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Business Environment
The global business environment in fiscal 2014 
(“2014,” January 1–December 31) was a mix of 
contrasting trends. Economic growth slowed in China 
and in several emerging economies, but Europe 
continued to move toward economic recovery, and 
consumer spending was solid in the United States. In 
Japan, economic recovery continued at a modest pace, 
highlighted by an improving employment picture and 
strength in corporate earnings. 
 Contrasting trends also characterized the 
business environment for Japan’s tire industry. The 
industry benefited from the weakening of the yen and 
from a continuing decline in raw material prices. 
Japan’s tire manufacturers contended, however, with 
escalating price competition worldwide. Yokohama 
Rubber and its subsidiaries (“Yokohama”) responded to 
the challenging business environment with measures 
for promoting sales, for raising operational efficiency, 
and for lowering costs.

Sales, Expenses, and Earnings
Net sales increased 3.9% in 2014, to ¥625.2 billion. 
Yokohama’s tire operations posted a business upturn in 
China and Europe, recording unit sales gains in those 

markets. Selling prices for tires declined, however, in 
markets worldwide, including Japan, amid escalating 
price competition. 
 Yokohama’s gross profit increased 5.4%, to 
¥217.3 billion, reflecting the downward trend in raw 
material prices. Selling, general and administrative 
expenses increased 5.8%, to ¥158.2 billion, reflecting 
an increase in the number of consolidated subsidiaries 
and increased logistics expenses associated with 
growth in unit sales volume. Operating income 
increased 4.3%, to ¥59.1 billion, and operating return 
on sales was unchanged, at 9.4%. 
 Other income, net of other expenses, totaled 
¥3.5 billion. A special gain on the sale of fixed assets 
more than offset a loss on foreign currency translation 
adjustments. The loss on foreign currency translation 
adjustments occurred as the yen depreciated, only 
slightly, against the euro and as it appreciated, greatly, 
against the ruble. The average yen/dollar exchange 
rate was ¥106, compared with ¥98 in 2013, and the 
average yen/euro exchange rate was ¥140, compared 
with ¥130 in 2013. Income before income taxes and 
minority interests increased 12.1%, to ¥62.6 billion, 
and net income increased 15.7%, to ¥40.5 billion. 

Results by Business Segment
Sales in Yokohama’s tire operations increased 3.8%, to 
¥497.6 billion, and operating income increased 5.6%, 
to ¥48.6 billion. Yokohama posted yen-value sales 
growth in original equipment tires in Japan despite a 
decline in unit volume. That growth resulted from 
winning several new fitments on premium-grade cars 
and on low-fuel-consumption cars by promoting its 
fuel-saving tires to automakers.
 Yokohama’s sales in Japan’s replacement tire 
market were basically unchanged from the previous 
year in unit volume and in yen value. Business was 
robust in the first half of the fiscal year. Heavy 
snowfalls stimulated demand for snow tires, and tire 
purchases surged overall in advance of the April 1 hike 
in Japan’s national sales tax. Demand weakened in the 
second half, however, and price competition 
escalated. 
 In overseas markets, Yokohama’s tire operations 
posted sales growth in unit volume and in yen value. 
Business benefited from resurgent sales growth in 
China and in Europe and from the weakening of the 
yen against other principal currencies. Escalating price 
competition in the United States offset the sales 
contribution of continuing vigorous demand. 

 Sales in Yokohama’s industrial products business 
increased 4.7%, to ¥101.5 billion, and operating 
income declined 1.4%, to ¥7.6 billion. That business 
consists principally of high-pressure hoses, sealants 
and adhesives, conveyor belts, antiseismic products, 
marine hoses, marine fenders, and electronic materials. 
 Yokohama posted sales growth in high-pressure 
hoses. Business in that product category benefited 
from Japan’s 2014 introduction of toughened exhaust 
emission regulations for small construction equipment. 
The regulatory change occasioned a surge in demand 
for hoses for equipment approved under the old 
regulatory standards. Sales also increased in 
Yokohama’s business in conveyor belts and in marine 
hoses, though sales declined in pneumatic marine 
fenders. Yokohama posted strong sales gains in 
construction sealants and in automotive sealants. 
 Sales in other products, which consist principally 
of aircraft fixtures and components and golf 
equipment, increased 4.0%, to ¥26.2 billion, and 
operating income declined 2.1%, to ¥2.9 billion. 
Yokohama posted solid sales in aircraft fixtures and 
components, led by replacement components in the 
government sector and by lavatory modules for small 
passenger aircraft in the commercial sector. Sales 
increased in golf equipment. 

Operating Income, Net Income,
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Financial Position
Total assets increased ¥80.9 billion, to ¥734.5 billion 
at fiscal year-end. Current assets increased ¥33.1 
billion, principally on account of increases in 
inventories and in cash and deposits. Total fixed assets 
increased ¥47.8 billion, to ¥382.1 billion, principally 
on account of valuation gains on investment securities 
and an increase in property and plant associated with 
capital spending.
 Total liabilities increased ¥29.2 billion, to ¥403.7 
billion at fiscal year-end. Interest-bearing debt 
increased ¥9.1 billion, to ¥184.3 billion. The ratio of 
interest-bearing debt to total net assets declined 
slightly, to 0.57 at fiscal year-end, and thus remained 
below management’s stated ceiling of 1.0.
 Total net assets increased ¥51.8 billion, to ¥330.8 
billion at fiscal year-end. That increase resulted as 
Yokohama posted ¥40.5 billion in net income and as 
rising equity prices produced a gain on the valuation of 
investment securities. 

Cash Flow
Net cash provided by operations in 2014 totaled 
¥59.0 billion, which consisted mainly of income 
before income taxes and minority interests and 
depreciation. Net cash used in investing activities 
totaled ¥53.7 billion, which consisted mainly of 
capital spending for fortifying production capacity in 
Japan and overseas. Free cash flow totaled ¥5.3 billion. 
Net cash used in financing activities totaled ¥72 million, 
as repayments of long-term borrowings more than 
offset an increase in the balance of short-term 
borrowings and commercial paper outstanding. 

Capital Expenditures
Capital expenditures in 2014 totaled ¥55.3 billion, and 
depreciation totaled ¥27.4 billion. The total for capital 
expenditures was basically in line with management’s 
planned capital spending of ¥58.8 billion.

R&D Expenditures
Yokohama conducts R&D on basic technologies at its 
Research and Development Integrated Center, in 

Hiratsuka, Kanagawa Prefecture. It conducts R&D 
linked directly to specific products through R&D units 
in its product groups. Expenditures on R&D in 2014 
totaled ¥13.4 billion.

Dividends
Yokohama declared an annual dividend of ¥26 per 
share for fiscal 2014, compared with ¥22 for 2013. 
That comprised an interim dividend of ¥12, compared 
with ¥10 for 2013, and a year-end dividend of ¥14, 
compared with ¥12 for 2013.

Fiscal 2015 Outlook
The business environment remains difficult to parse in 
2015. In Japan, the economic outlook is for continued 
gradual recovery, supported by the government’s 
program of economic stimuli. Uncertainty persists, 
however, about the outlook for currency exchange 
rates and for crude oil prices, and sudden shifts in 
either of those variables could affect Yokohama’s 
globally competitive position unfavorably. 

 Yokohama’s fiscal projections for 2015 call for 
net sales to increase 7.6%, to ¥673.0 billion; for 
operating income to increase 8.4%, to ¥64.0 billion; 
and for net income to decline 11.1%, to ¥36.0 billion. 
That would mean a fourth consecutive year of record 
high figures for net sales and operating income. In 
preparing these projections, Yokohama has assumed 
average exchange rates of ¥115 to the US dollar and 
¥130 to the euro.

Projected Dividends in 2015
Yokohama shareholders approved a one-for-two share 
merger at the General Meeting of Shareholders held 
on March 27, 2015. The merger will take effect on 
July 1, 2015. Management plans to declare an interim 
dividend of ¥12 per premerger share to shareholders 
of record as of June 30, 2015, and a year-end dividend 
of ¥28 per postmerger share. The proposed year-end 
dividend is double the premerger year-end dividend 
for 2014, and the annual dividend would thus total 
¥40. 
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RISK

Below is a partial listing of risks that could adversely affect the 
Company’s business performance, financial position, or share 
price. All references to possible future events and to other subjects 
are from the standpoint of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

Economic Conditions
Vehicle tires account for most of the Company’s 
worldwide revenues. Demand for those tires reflects 
economic conditions in nations and regions where the 
Company sells its products. Therefore, economic 
trends and developments that diminish demand in the 
Company’s main markets—including Japan, North 
America, Europe, and Asian nations besides Japan—
could adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Exchange Rates
The Company conducts most of its business 
transactions and investment in yen, but it conducts 
some transactions and investment in dollars and in 
other currencies. The Company continues to expand 
its operations globally. That expansion will increase 
the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates. The Company hedges its exposure to 
currency exchange rates with forward exchange 
contracts and with other instruments, but hedging 
cannot fully offset the effect of fluctuations in 
currency exchange rates on the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Seasonal Factors
Historically, the Company’s sales and earnings 
performance has tended to be strongest in the winter 
months. That is mainly because sales of winter 

category tires are an important contributor to the 
Company’s sales and earnings. A later-than-usual onset 
of winter or lighter-than-usual snowfall could diminish 
demand for winter category tires and thereby 
adversely affect the Company’s business performance 
and financial position.

Raw Material Prices
Yokohama’s principal raw materials are natural rubber 
and petrochemical products, including synthetic 
rubber and carbon black. Sharp increases in prices for 
crude oil could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position. 

Access to Funding
Instability in any of the world’s principal financial 
markets could affect the Company‘s access to funding 
adversely. In addition, the lowering of the Company’s 
credit rating by leading credit-rating agencies could 
adversely affect the Company’s access to debt 
financing and could increase the Company’s cost of 
funds. That could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Interest Rates
As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s interest-bearing 
debt was equivalent to 25.2% of its total assets. An 
increase in interest rates could adversely affect the 
Company’s financial performance and financial position.

Securities
The Company owns marketable securities, mainly 
Japanese equities. A decline in the value of those 
securities could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Investment
In response to growing demand for automobile tires, 
the Company is investing in expanding its tire 
production capacity, especially in Asia. Changes in the 
regulatory environment, in economic conditions, in 
industrial circumstances, or in political and social 
stability in the host nations for the Company’s 
investment could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Retirement Benefit Obligations
The Company calculates retirement benefit obligations 
and retirement benefit expenses according to 
predetermined criteria, including expected returns on 
pension assets. If actual return on the Company’s 
pension assets declined substantially below the expected 
return, that could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position. Similarly, 
if the Company revised its retirement plan in a manner 
that increased future payment obligations or resulted in 
the occurrence of unforeseen service liabilities, that 
could adversely affect the Company’s financial 
performance and financial position.

Natural Disasters
Earthquakes and other natural disasters could damage 
the Company’s plants and other facilities and could 
limit the Company’s access to essential raw materials 
and services. That could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Intellectual Property
The Company strives to protect its accumulated 
technological expertise from unauthorized use by third 
parties and its intellectual property rights from 
infringement, but it could, in some circumstances, be 

unable to prevent such unauthorized use or infringement. 
Conversely, third parties could claim that the 
Company’s products or technologies infringe on their 
intellectual property rights. Unauthorized use of the 
Company’s technological expertise, infringement of its 
intellectual property, or court rulings that its products 
or technologies infringe on third-party intellectual 
property rights could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Product Quality
Management at the Company is committed to ensuring 
high and consistent product quality and maintains a 
framework and procedures for fulfilling that 
commitment, but product defects could occur despite 
the Company’s best efforts in prevention. The 
occurrence of defects serious enough to occasion large 
product recalls could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Laws, Regulations, and Litigation
The Company is subject to laws and regulations in the 
nations where it conducts business that pertain to such 
activities as investment, trade, currency exchange, 
competition, and environmental protection. New or 
amended laws or regulations that resulted in constraining 
the Company’s operating latitude or in raising the 
Company’s costs could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position. In 
addition, the Company could become the subject of 
litigation or of investigations by legal authorities in the 
nations where it operates. Serious litigation or the 
initiation of an investigation of the Company by legal 
authorities could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.
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RISK

Below is a partial listing of risks that could adversely affect the 
Company’s business performance, financial position, or share 
price. All references to possible future events and to other subjects 
are from the standpoint of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

Economic Conditions
Vehicle tires account for most of the Company’s 
worldwide revenues. Demand for those tires reflects 
economic conditions in nations and regions where the 
Company sells its products. Therefore, economic 
trends and developments that diminish demand in the 
Company’s main markets—including Japan, North 
America, Europe, and Asian nations besides Japan—
could adversely affect the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Exchange Rates
The Company conducts most of its business 
transactions and investment in yen, but it conducts 
some transactions and investment in dollars and in 
other currencies. The Company continues to expand 
its operations globally. That expansion will increase 
the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in currency 
exchange rates. The Company hedges its exposure to 
currency exchange rates with forward exchange 
contracts and with other instruments, but hedging 
cannot fully offset the effect of fluctuations in 
currency exchange rates on the Company’s business 
performance and financial position.

Seasonal Factors
Historically, the Company’s sales and earnings 
performance has tended to be strongest in the winter 
months. That is mainly because sales of winter 

category tires are an important contributor to the 
Company’s sales and earnings. A later-than-usual onset 
of winter or lighter-than-usual snowfall could diminish 
demand for winter category tires and thereby 
adversely affect the Company’s business performance 
and financial position.

Raw Material Prices
Yokohama’s principal raw materials are natural rubber 
and petrochemical products, including synthetic 
rubber and carbon black. Sharp increases in prices for 
crude oil could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position. 

Access to Funding
Instability in any of the world’s principal financial 
markets could affect the Company‘s access to funding 
adversely. In addition, the lowering of the Company’s 
credit rating by leading credit-rating agencies could 
adversely affect the Company’s access to debt 
financing and could increase the Company’s cost of 
funds. That could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Interest Rates
As of December 31, 2014, the Company’s interest-bearing 
debt was equivalent to 25.2% of its total assets. An 
increase in interest rates could adversely affect the 
Company’s financial performance and financial position.

Securities
The Company owns marketable securities, mainly 
Japanese equities. A decline in the value of those 
securities could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position.

Investment
In response to growing demand for automobile tires, 
the Company is investing in expanding its tire 
production capacity, especially in Asia. Changes in the 
regulatory environment, in economic conditions, in 
industrial circumstances, or in political and social 
stability in the host nations for the Company’s 
investment could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Retirement Benefit Obligations
The Company calculates retirement benefit obligations 
and retirement benefit expenses according to 
predetermined criteria, including expected returns on 
pension assets. If actual return on the Company’s 
pension assets declined substantially below the expected 
return, that could adversely affect the Company’s 
financial performance and financial position. Similarly, 
if the Company revised its retirement plan in a manner 
that increased future payment obligations or resulted in 
the occurrence of unforeseen service liabilities, that 
could adversely affect the Company’s financial 
performance and financial position.

Natural Disasters
Earthquakes and other natural disasters could damage 
the Company’s plants and other facilities and could 
limit the Company’s access to essential raw materials 
and services. That could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Intellectual Property
The Company strives to protect its accumulated 
technological expertise from unauthorized use by third 
parties and its intellectual property rights from 
infringement, but it could, in some circumstances, be 

unable to prevent such unauthorized use or infringement. 
Conversely, third parties could claim that the 
Company’s products or technologies infringe on their 
intellectual property rights. Unauthorized use of the 
Company’s technological expertise, infringement of its 
intellectual property, or court rulings that its products 
or technologies infringe on third-party intellectual 
property rights could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Product Quality
Management at the Company is committed to ensuring 
high and consistent product quality and maintains a 
framework and procedures for fulfilling that 
commitment, but product defects could occur despite 
the Company’s best efforts in prevention. The 
occurrence of defects serious enough to occasion large 
product recalls could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.

Laws, Regulations, and Litigation
The Company is subject to laws and regulations in the 
nations where it conducts business that pertain to such 
activities as investment, trade, currency exchange, 
competition, and environmental protection. New or 
amended laws or regulations that resulted in constraining 
the Company’s operating latitude or in raising the 
Company’s costs could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position. In 
addition, the Company could become the subject of 
litigation or of investigations by legal authorities in the 
nations where it operates. Serious litigation or the 
initiation of an investigation of the Company by legal 
authorities could adversely affect the Company’s 
business performance and financial position.
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Millions of Yen

ELEVEN-YEAR SUMMARY
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the nine months ended December 31, 2011, and the years ended March 31, 2005–2011

2014 2013 2012 2011/12 2011/3 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Net sales ¥ 625,246 ¥ 601,630 ¥ 559,700 ¥ 465,134 ¥ 519,742 ¥ 466,358 ¥ 517,263 ¥ 551,431 ¥ 497,396 ¥ 451,911 ¥ 419,789

Operating income 59,067 56,647 49,696 26,291 29,491 21,455 12,808 33,119 21,070 21,947 20,955

Income before income taxes and minority interests 62,594 55,819 51,768 16,604 21,880 18,969 (3,166) 20,478 26,038 22,673 16,337

Net income (loss) 40,503 35,008 32,611 11,619 13,924 11,487 (5,654) 21,060 16,363 21,447 11,322

Depreciation 27,439 23,982 25,007 19,871 25,885 28,184 28,684 27,238 22,166 20,491 19,616

Capital expenditures 55,325 33,505 28,070 22,433 24,944 17,471 43,341 27,292 40,638 29,067 27,533

R&D expenditures 13,438 12,633 12,825 9,307 12,748 13,280 15,277 15,289 14,649 14,557 14,265

Interest-bearing debt 184,336 175,251 146,285 161,998 146,773 154,675 179,379 165,614 167,474 163,022 151,758

Total net assets 330,782 279,021 211,350 168,286 170,872 163,382 144,159 181,538 186,528 174,609 139,534

Total assets 734,512 653,584 543,829 501,786 478,916 466,973 473,376 526,192 536,322 502,014 432,717

Per share (yen):

Net income (loss): Basic ¥  125.34 ¥ 108.32 ¥  97.87 ¥  34.68 ¥  41.55 ¥  34.27 ¥  (16.87) ¥  62.81 ¥  48.79 ¥  62.75 ¥  32.95

Net assets 1,001.29 837.84 631.64 484.04 489.27 475.26 417.45 525.96 542.10 508.64 398.24

Cash dividends 26.00 22.00 20.00 7.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 13.00 12.00 10.00 8.00

Key financial ratios:

Operating return on sales (%) 9.4 9.4 8.9 5.7 5.7 4.6 2.5 6.0 4.2 4.9 5.0

Return on shareholders’ equity (%) 13.6 14.7 17.8 7.1 8.6 7.7 (3.6) 11.8 9.3 14.0 8.6

Capital turnover (times) 0.9 1.0 1.1 0.9 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0

Interest-bearing debt to shareholders’ equity (times) 0.6 0.6 0.7 1.0 0.9 1.0 1.3 0.9 0.9 1.0 1.1

Interest coverage (times) 18.4 20.6 20.7 14.3 13.4 8.0 4.3 9.0 7.0 10.1 11.2

Number of employees 21,441 19,770 19,412 19,272 18,465 17,566 16,772 16,099 15,423 14,617 13,464
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars  

(Note 1)

Liabilities and Net Assets
2014 

(12.31.14)
2013 

(12.31.13)
2014 

(12.31.14)

Current Liabilities:
Bank loans ¥  87,368 ¥  79,623 $   724,742 
Current maturities of long-term debt (Note 4) 23,014 31,825 190,909 
Commercial paper  22,000  12,000  182,497 
Trade notes and accounts payable (Note 6) 80,641 76,718 668,942 
Electronically recorded obligations—operating 8,450 6,871  70,096 
Accrued income taxes 10,869 11,035 90,162 
Accrued expenses 38,613 33,916 320,304 
Allowance for sales returns 716  853 5,940 
Other current liabilities  (Notes 6 and 19) 20,915 17,218 173,495 
  Total current liabilities 292,585 270,059 2,427,086 

Long-Term Liabilities:
Long-term debt (Note 4) 51,955 51,804 430,982 
Deferred income taxes (Note 19) 22,441 18,680 186,153 
Reserve for pension and severance payments (Note 18) — 18,554 —
Net defined benefit liability (Note 18) 24,684 — 204,763 
Other long-term liabilities 12,064 15,466 100,078 
　　Total long-term liabilities 111,144 104,504 921,975 
　　Total liabilities 403,729 374,563 3,349,061 
Contingent liabilities (Note 7)

Net Assets
Shareholders’ Equity:
Common stock:
 Authorized: 700,000,000 shares as of December 31, 2014  
  and 2013 (Note 22)  
 Issued: 342,598,162 shares as of December 31, 2014 
  and 2013 (Note 22)  38,909 38,909 322,764 
Capital surplus  31,954 31,953 265,068 
Retained earnings (Note 12)  206,462 173,761 1,712,671 
Treasury stock, at cost: 19,457,152 shares as of December 31, 2014, 
 and 19,437,042 shares as of December 31, 2013 (11,378) (11,358) (94,383)
  Total shareholders’ equity  265,948 233,265 2,206,119 

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):
 Unrealized gains on securities  42,559 38,586 353,037 
 Foreign currency translation adjustments 19,855 4,299 164,707 
 Adjustments related to pension obligations of consolidated
  overseas subsidiaries — (5,394) —
 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (4,805) — (39,855)
  Total accumulated other comprehensive income 57,609 37,491 477,889 

Minority Interests  7,225 8,265  59,934 
  Total net assets  330,782 279,021 2,743,942
  Total liabilities and net assets ¥ 734,512 ¥ 653,584 $ 6,093,003 

CoNSoLidAtEd BALANCE ShEEt
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., and Consolidated Subsidiaries
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013

Millions of Yen

Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars 

(Note 1)

Assets
2014 

(12.31.14)
2013 

(12.31.13)
2014 

(12.31.14)

Current Assets:
Cash and deposits ¥  45,967 ¥  37,179 $   381,313 
Trade receivables:
 Notes and accounts (Note 6) 171,026 167,831 1,418,715 
Inventories (Note 3) 108,355 91,025 898,839 
Deferred income taxes (Note 19) 11,954 11,583 99,159 
Other current assets 15,846 12,646 131,444 
Allowance for doubtful receivables (722) (971) (5,989)

  Total current assets 352,426 319,293 2,923,482 

Property, Plant and Equipment, at Cost (Notes 4, 5 and 14):
Land 36,177 35,594 300,103 
Buildings and structures 171,752 159,731 1,424,733 
Machinery and equipment 501,604 467,138 4,160,962 
Leased assets 2,956 3,039 24,525 
Construction in progress 41,702 17,452 345,931 

754,191 682,954 6,256,255 
Less accumulated depreciation (504,756) (475,383) (4,187,109)

  Total property, plant and equipment, net 249,435 207,571 2,069,145 

Investments and Other Assets:
Investment securities (Note 16) 104,150 99,638 863,958 
Deferred income taxes (Note 19) 5,182 6,069 42,990 
Other investments and other assets 23,868 21,536 197,995 
Allowance for doubtful receivables (551) (523) (4,567)

  Total investments and other assets 132,650 126,720 1,100,376 

  Total  assets ¥ 734,512 ¥ 653,584 $ 6,093,003 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Millions of Yen

Thousands of  
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CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENt of CoMpREhENSiVE iNCoME
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Millions of Yen

Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars  

(Note 1)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Income before minority interests ¥ 40,536 ¥ 34,947 $ 336,262 
Other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 11)
 Unrealized gains on securities 3,984 18,268 33,051 
 Foreign currency translation adjustments 15,411 19,702 127,841 
 Adjustment related to pension obligations
  of consolidated overseas subsidiaries (959) 1,018 (7,958)
 Share of other comprehensive income of associates
  accounted for by the equity method 7 317 56 
 Total other comprehensive income ¥ 18,443 ¥ 39,305 $ 152,990 
 
Comprehensive income ¥ 58,979 ¥ 74,252 $ 489,253 
 Comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company 59,073 73,515 490,028 
 Comprehensive income attributable to minority interests (93) 737 (775)
 

 

pER ShARE AMoUNtS:
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Yen
U.S. Dollars  

(Note 1)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Net income: Basic ¥ 125.34 ¥ 108.32 $ 1.04 
Net income: Diluted — — — 
Cash dividends ¥  26.00 ¥  22.00 $ 0.22 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENt of iNCoME
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Millions of Yen

Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars  

(Note 1)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Net sales ¥ 625,246 ¥ 601,630 $ 5,186,610 
Cost of sales (Notes 5 and 8) 407,968 395,502 3,384,219 
Gross profit 217,278 206,128 1,802,391 

Selling, general and administrative expenses (Notes 5, 8, 9 and 10) 158,212 149,481 1,312,414 
Operating income 59,067 56,647 489,977 
Other income (expenses)
 Interest and dividend income 2,850 1,891 23,642 
 Interest expense (3,371) (2,846) (27,966)
 Exchange gain (loss) (891) 4,649 (7,393)
 Gain on sale of fixed assets  5,028  —  41,706 
 Gain on sales of investment securities  2,615  —  21,691 
 Loss on sale and disposal of fixed assets (851) (1,119) (7,063)
 Business structure improvement expenses (Note 9)  — (1,155)  — 
 Impairment loss (Note 10)  — (1,411)  — 
 Other, net (1,851) (837) (15,356)
 3,527 (828) 29,261 
Income before income taxes and minority interests 62,594 55,819 519,238 
Income taxes (Notes 2 and 19):
 Current 20,800 20,890 172,540 
 Deferred 1,258 (18) 10,436 
 22,058 20,872 182,976 
Income before minority interests 40,536  34,947 336,262 
Minority interests in net income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries (34) 61 (280)
 
Net income ¥  40,503 ¥  35,008 $   335,982 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENt of CoMpREhENSiVE iNCoME
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
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Income taxes (Notes 2 and 19):
 Current 20,800 20,890 172,540 
 Deferred 1,258 (18) 10,436 
 22,058 20,872 182,976 
Income before minority interests 40,536  34,947 336,262 
Minority interests in net income (loss) of consolidated subsidiaries (34) 61 (280)
 
Net income ¥  40,503 ¥  35,008 $   335,982 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Common 
Stock 

Capital  
Surplus

Retained  
Earnings

Treasury  
Stock

Total  
Shareholders’ 

Equity

Total 
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehen-
sive Income 

(Loss)
Minority 
Interests 

Total  
Net Assets

Balance at January 1, 2014 $ 322,764 $ 265,064 $ 1,441,405 $ (94,216) $ 1,935,017 $ 310,999 $ 68,558 $ 2,314,566
 Net income — — 335,982 — 335,982 — — 335,982
 Cash dividends paid — — (64,337) — (64,337) — — (64,337)
 Change of scope of consolidation — — (372) — (372) — — (372)
 Purchase of treasury shares — —  — (167) (167) — — (167)
 Disposal of treasury shares — 4  — 7 11 — — 11

 Accumulated other comprehensive  
  income (loss)

  Net unrealized gains and  
   losses on securities

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
32,955

 
—

 
32,955

  Foreign currency translation  
   adjustments

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
129,043

 
—

 
129,043

  Adjustments related to pension  
   obligations of consolidated   
   overseas subsidiaries

 
 

—

 
 

—

 
 

—

 
 

—

 
 

—

 
 

44,747

 
 

—

 
 

44,747
  Remeasurements of defined  
   benefit plans

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
(39,855)

 
—

 
(39,855)

 Increase in minority interests — — — — — — (8,624) (8,624)

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 322,764 $ 265,068 $ 1,712,671 $ (94,383) $ 2,206,119 $ 477,889 $ 59,934 $ 2,743,942

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENt of ChANgES iN NEt ASSEtS
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Millions of Yen

Shares of 
Common Stock

Common 
Stock

Capital  
Surplus

Retained 
Earnings

Treasury  
Stock

Total  
Shareholders’ 

Equity

Total 
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehen-
sive Income 

(Loss)
Minority 
Interests

Total Net 
Assets

Balance at January 1, 2013 342,598,162 ¥ 38,909 ¥ 31,953 ¥ 145,607 ¥ (11,294) ¥ 205,175 ¥  (1,016) ¥ 7,191 ¥ 211,350
 Net income — — — 35,008 — 35,008 — — 35,008
 Cash dividends paid — — — (7,110) — (7,110) — — (7,110)

 Change of scope of  
  consolidation

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
256 

 
—

 
256

 
—

 
—

 
256

 Purchase of treasury shares — — —  — (64) (64) — — (64)
 Disposal of treasury shares — — 0  —  0 0 — — 0 
 Accumulated other  
  comprehensive income (loss)

  Net unrealized gains and  
   losses on securities

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
18,255

 
—

 
18,255

  Foreign currency   
   translation adjustments

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
19,238

 
—

 
19,238

  Adjustments related to  
   pension obligations 
   of consolidated overseas  
   subsidiaries

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

1,014

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

1,014

  Remeasurements of   
   defined benefit plans

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 Increase in minority interests — — — — — — — 1,074 1,074

Balance at January 1, 2014 342,598,162 38,909 31,953 173,761 (11,358) 233,265 37,491 8,265 279,021
 Net income — — — 40,503 — 40,503 — — 40,503
 Cash dividends paid — — — (7,756) — (7,756) — — (7,756)

 Change of scope of  
  consolidation

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
(45)

 
—

 
(45)

 
—

 
—

 
(45)

 Purchase of treasury shares — — —  — (20) (20) — — (20)
 Disposal of treasury shares — — 0  —  1 1 — — 1 

 Accumulated other  
  comprehensive income (loss)

  Net unrealized gains and  
   losses on securities

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
3,973

 
—

 
3,973

  Foreign currency  
   translation adjustments

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
15,556

 
—

 
15,556

  Adjustments related to  
   pension obligations of  
   consolidated overseas  
   subsidiaries

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

5,394

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

5,394

  Remeasurements of  
   defined benefit plans

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
(4,805)

 
—

 
(4,805)

 Increase in minority interests — — — — — — — (1,040) (1,040)

Balance at December 31, 2014 342,598,162 ¥ 38,909 ¥ 31,954 ¥ 206,462 ¥ (11,378) ¥ 265,948 ¥ 57,609 ¥ 7,225 ¥ 330,782
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Thousands of U.S. Dollars (Note 1)

Common 
Stock 

Capital  
Surplus

Retained  
Earnings

Treasury  
Stock

Total  
Shareholders’ 

Equity

Total 
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehen-
sive Income 

(Loss)
Minority 
Interests 

Total  
Net Assets

Balance at January 1, 2014 $ 322,764 $ 265,064 $ 1,441,405 $ (94,216) $ 1,935,017 $ 310,999 $ 68,558 $ 2,314,566
 Net income — — 335,982 — 335,982 — — 335,982
 Cash dividends paid — — (64,337) — (64,337) — — (64,337)
 Change of scope of consolidation — — (372) — (372) — — (372)
 Purchase of treasury shares — —  — (167) (167) — — (167)
 Disposal of treasury shares — 4  — 7 11 — — 11

 Accumulated other comprehensive  
  income (loss)

  Net unrealized gains and  
   losses on securities

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
32,955

 
—

 
32,955

  Foreign currency translation  
   adjustments

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
129,043

 
—

 
129,043

  Adjustments related to pension  
   obligations of consolidated   
   overseas subsidiaries

 
 

—

 
 

—

 
 

—

 
 

—

 
 

—

 
 

44,747

 
 

—

 
 

44,747
  Remeasurements of defined  
   benefit plans

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
(39,855)

 
—

 
(39,855)

 Increase in minority interests — — — — — — (8,624) (8,624)

Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 322,764 $ 265,068 $ 1,712,671 $ (94,383) $ 2,206,119 $ 477,889 $ 59,934 $ 2,743,942

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENt of ChANgES iN NEt ASSEtS
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Millions of Yen

Shares of 
Common Stock

Common 
Stock

Capital  
Surplus

Retained 
Earnings

Treasury  
Stock

Total  
Shareholders’ 

Equity

Total 
Accumulated 

Other 
Comprehen-
sive Income 

(Loss)
Minority 
Interests

Total Net 
Assets

Balance at January 1, 2013 342,598,162 ¥ 38,909 ¥ 31,953 ¥ 145,607 ¥ (11,294) ¥ 205,175 ¥  (1,016) ¥ 7,191 ¥ 211,350
 Net income — — — 35,008 — 35,008 — — 35,008
 Cash dividends paid — — — (7,110) — (7,110) — — (7,110)

 Change of scope of  
  consolidation

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
256 

 
—

 
256

 
—

 
—

 
256

 Purchase of treasury shares — — —  — (64) (64) — — (64)
 Disposal of treasury shares — — 0  —  0 0 — — 0 
 Accumulated other  
  comprehensive income (loss)

  Net unrealized gains and  
   losses on securities

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
18,255

 
—

 
18,255

  Foreign currency   
   translation adjustments

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
19,238

 
—

 
19,238

  Adjustments related to  
   pension obligations 
   of consolidated overseas  
   subsidiaries

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

1,014

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

1,014

  Remeasurements of   
   defined benefit plans

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 Increase in minority interests — — — — — — — 1,074 1,074

Balance at January 1, 2014 342,598,162 38,909 31,953 173,761 (11,358) 233,265 37,491 8,265 279,021
 Net income — — — 40,503 — 40,503 — — 40,503
 Cash dividends paid — — — (7,756) — (7,756) — — (7,756)

 Change of scope of  
  consolidation

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
(45)

 
—

 
(45)

 
—

 
—

 
(45)

 Purchase of treasury shares — — —  — (20) (20) — — (20)
 Disposal of treasury shares — — 0  —  1 1 — — 1 

 Accumulated other  
  comprehensive income (loss)

  Net unrealized gains and  
   losses on securities

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
3,973

 
—

 
3,973

  Foreign currency  
   translation adjustments

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
15,556

 
—

 
15,556

  Adjustments related to  
   pension obligations of  
   consolidated overseas  
   subsidiaries

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

5,394

 
 
 

—

 
 
 

5,394

  Remeasurements of  
   defined benefit plans

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
(4,805)

 
—

 
(4,805)

 Increase in minority interests — — — — — — — (1,040) (1,040)

Balance at December 31, 2014 342,598,162 ¥ 38,909 ¥ 31,954 ¥ 206,462 ¥ (11,378) ¥ 265,948 ¥ 57,609 ¥ 7,225 ¥ 330,782
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CoNSoLidAtEd StAtEMENt of CASh fLowS
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., and Consolidated Subsidiaries
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

Millions of Yen

Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars  

(Note 1)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Operating Activities:
Income before income taxes and minority interests ¥  62,594 ¥  55,819 $  519,238 
Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes and minority
 interests to net cash provided by operating activities:
 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 2 and 5) 27,439 23,982 227,613 
 Loss (gain) on sales of investment securities (2,615)  — (21,691)
 Loss (gain) on sales of non-current assets (4,176) 1,119 (34,643)
 Business structure improvement expenses (Note 9)  —  1,155  — 
 Impairment loss (Note 10)  —  1,411  — 
 Increase (decrease) in reserve for pension and severance payments  — (172)  — 
 Increase (decrease) in net defined benefit liability 116 0 963 
 Other, net 70 (425) 582 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
 Trade notes and accounts receivable 333 (7,058) 2,763 
 Inventories (11,561) 1,938 (95,900)
 Notes and accounts payable 1,953 (6,570) 16,199 
 Other, net 6,288 2,479 52,162 
Interest and dividends received 2,837 1,884 23,531 
Interest paid (3,361) (3,184) (27,882)
Income taxes paid (20,923) (25,726) (173,565)
  Net cash provided by operating activities 58,994 46,652 489,371 

Investing Activities:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (52,730) (32,422) (437,408)
Purchases of marketable securities and investment securities (4,196) (5,541) (34,804)
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment 6,365 279 52,802 
Proceeds from sales of investment securities 3,246 0 26,925 
Payments of loans receivable (5,619) (4,317) (46,615)
Other, net (807) (2,568) (6,695)
  Net cash used in investing activities (53,741) (44,570) (445,796)

Financing Activities:
Increase in short-term bank loans 10,862 233 90,107 
Increase in commercial paper 10,000 12,000 82,953 
Proceeds from long-term debt 9,166 17,475 76,032 
Decrease in long-term debt (20,968) (10,566) (173,932)
Proceeds from issuance of bonds 10,000  10,000  82,953 
Redemption of bonds (10,000) (10,000) (82,953)
Payment of cash dividends (7,748) (7,103) (64,272)
Repayments of long-term deposits received  — (2,555)  — 
Other, net (1,385) (962) (11,490)
  Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (73) 8,522 (602)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 1,483 2,531 12,302 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,663 13,135 55,276 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 35,863 21,115 297,494 
Effect of changes in consolidation scope on cash and cash equivalents  1,927  1,613  15,987 
  Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥  44,454 ¥  35,863 $  368,756 

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Notes to CoNsolidated FiNaNCial statemeNts 
The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd., and Consolidated Subsidiaries

1. Basis of Presentation of Financial Statements
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of The Yokohama Rubber Co., Ltd. (the “Company”), and its domestic 
consolidated subsidiaries were prepared on the basis of accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, which are 
different in certain respects as to the application and disclosure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, 
and are compiled from the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Company as required by the Financial 
Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan. The Company’s subsidiaries in the United States of America (the “USA”) prepared 
their financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the USA. 
  In preparing these statements, certain reclassifications and rearrangements have been made to the consolidated 
financial statements prepared domestically to present these statements in a form that is more familiar to readers outside 
Japan. In addition, the accompanying notes include information that is not required under accounting principles generally 
accepted in Japan. 
  The U.S. dollar amounts included herein are solely for the convenience of the reader and have been translated from the 
Japanese yen amounts at the rate of ¥120.55 = US$1.00, the approximate exchange rate prevailing on December 31, 2014.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a. Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its significant majority-owned 
domestic and foreign subsidiaries (together, the “Companies”). Investment in significant unconsolidated subsidiaries and 
affiliated companies (companies owned 20% to 50%) is accounted for by the equity method. 
  All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The excess of the cost of 
the Companies’ investments in subsidiaries and affiliated companies over their equity in the net assets at the dates of 
acquisition was not material and was fully written off when acquired.

b. Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency receivables and payables are translated at the year-end spot rates. The resulting exchange gains and 
losses are charged or credited to income. 
  The assets and liabilities of the consolidated subsidiaries outside Japan are translated at the fiscal year-end rates of 
those companies, and the income and expense accounts of those companies are translated at the average rates of those 
companies. 
  Differences arising from such translation are recorded in foreign currency translation adjustments and minority interests 
in net assets.

c. Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less 
are considered cash equivalents.

d. Marketable Securities and Investment Securities
Securities classified as available for sale and whose fair value is readily determinable are carried at fair value, with unrealized 
gains or losses included as a component of net assets, net of applicable taxes. Costs are determined by the moving-
average method. 
  Securities whose fair value is not readily determinable are carried at cost. Costs are determined by the moving-average 
method.

e. Derivative Instruments
Derivative instruments whose fair value is readily determinable are carried at fair value.

f. Inventories
Inventories of the Company and its domestic subsidiaries are stated at cost, determined by the moving-average method, 
and inventories of certain foreign subsidiaries are valued at the lower of cost based on the first-in first-out method or market. 
The book value of inventories of the Company and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries reflects a write-down due to 
declines in profitability.

g. Allowance for Doubtful Receivables
The allowance for doubtful receivables is provided at an estimated amount of probable bad debts plus an amount based on 
past credit loss experience.
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h. Depreciation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed principally by the straight-line method based on the estimated 
useful lives of the respective assets.

i. Retirement Benefits
The straight-line method is applied for attributing the expected benefit to the current period in the calculation of the projected 
benefit obligation.
  Prior service costs are amortized by the straight-line method over certain periods (mainly 10 years), which is within the 
average remaining service period of employees at the time of recognition. Actuarial gains and losses are amortized starting 
in the year following the year in which the gain or loss is recognized by the straight-line method over certain periods (mainly 
10 years), which is within the average remaining service period of employees at the time of recognition.
Unapplied Accounting Standards ・
•  Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits (Accounting Standards Board of Japan [ASBJ] Statement No. 26, May 17, 

2012)・
• Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits (ASBJ Guidance No. 25, May 17, 2012) 
(1) Outline 
 Actuarial gains and losses and prior service costs are required to be recognized in net assets at net of tax effects. 

Funded status is fully recognized as a liability or asset on the balance sheet. With respect to the amortization method of 
the expected benefit, the benefit formula basis is newly allowed as an option, in addition to the straight-line basis. In 
addition, the method for determining the discount rate has been amended. 

(2) Planned date of application 
 The amortization method of the expected benefit will be adopted from the beginning of the fiscal year ending December 

31, 2015. The standard and guidance will not be applied retrospectively to financial statements in the prior years. 
(3) Effects of the application of the above accounting standards on consolidated financial statements 
 The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the Company in adopting these accounting standards are under 

evaluation.

j. Allowance for Sales Returns
An allowance for sales returns is provided for losses incurred on the return of snow tires sold during the fiscal year but 
returned subsequent to the balance sheet date. The allowance is based on an estimate using the average rate of such 
returns in prior years.

k. Income Taxes
Income taxes in Japan comprise a corporate tax, an enterprise tax and prefectural and municipal inhabitants’ taxes. 
  Provision is made for deferred income taxes arising from temporary differences between assets or liabilities for financial 
and tax reporting purposes.

l. Revenue Recognition
Sales of products are recognized upon product shipments to customers.

m. Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are charged to income as incurred.

n. Earnings per Share
Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the average number of 
common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted net income per share is not disclosed because there were no 
dilutive securities in the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Change in Accounting Policies
Application of accounting standards for retirement benefits
The Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits (ASBJ Statement No. 26 released on May 17, 2012; hereinafter “the 
Standard”) and the Guidance on Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits (ASBJ Guidance No. 25 released on May 17, 
2012; hereinafter “the Guidance”) have been applied effective from the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, 
except for items stated in Paragraph 35 of the Standard and Paragraph 67 of the Guidance. As a result of this application, 
the Company reports the amount of retirement benefit obligations after deducting plan assets as a net defined benefit 
liability, with unrecognized actuarial gain or loss and unrecognized prior service cost being included in the net defined benefit 
liability.

  The Company follows the transitional treatment provided in Paragraph 37 of the Standard for the application of the 
Standard and the Guidance, and the effect of this application is recognized by adjusting remeasurements of defined benefit 
plans presented in accumulated other comprehensive income as of the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014. In 
addition, net defined benefit liability of consolidated overseas subsidiaries, which was disclosed in other long-term liabilities 
in the consolidated balance sheet in previous years (¥8,884 million [$73,696 thousand] as of December 31, 2013, and 
¥9,178 million [$76,138 thousand] as of December 31, 2014) was included in net defined benefit liability from the end of the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, and adjustments related to pension obligations of consolidated overseas subsidiaries 
in net assets (¥−5,394 million [$44,747 thousand] as of December 31, 2013, and ¥−6,354 million [$52,705 thousand] as of 
December 31, 2014) were included in remeasurements of defined benefit plans from the end of the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2014.
  As a result, net defined benefit liability of ¥24,684 million ($204,763 thousand) was recorded as of December 31, 2014, 
and accumulated other comprehensive income increased by ¥1,549 million ($12,849 thousand).
 
3. Inventories
Inventories at December 31, 2014 and 2013, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Finished products ¥  74,080 ¥ 63,009 $ 614,519
Work in process 7,755 7,273 64,329
Raw materials and supplies 26,520 20,743 219,991

¥ 108,355 ¥ 91,025 $ 898,839

 
4. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt at December 31, 2014 and 2013, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

1.68% straight bonds due 2014 ¥       — ¥ 10,000 $        —
0.509% straight bonds due 2020 10,000 10,000 82,953
0.355% straight bonds due 2021 10,000 — 82,953
Loans, principally from banks and insurance companies 54,969 63,629 455,984

74,969 83,629 621,890
Less current maturities 23,014 31,825 190,909

¥ 51,955 ¥ 51,804 $ 430,982

Assets pledged to secure bank loans and long-term debt at December 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Property, plant and equipment ¥ 698 ¥ 712 $ 5,793

5. Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expenses for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, were allocated as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Selling, general and administrative expenses ¥  3,044 ¥  2,840 $  25,254
Manufacturing costs 24,394 21,142 202,359
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h. Depreciation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed principally by the straight-line method based on the estimated 
useful lives of the respective assets.

i. Retirement Benefits
The straight-line method is applied for attributing the expected benefit to the current period in the calculation of the projected 
benefit obligation.
  Prior service costs are amortized by the straight-line method over certain periods (mainly 10 years), which is within the 
average remaining service period of employees at the time of recognition. Actuarial gains and losses are amortized starting 
in the year following the year in which the gain or loss is recognized by the straight-line method over certain periods (mainly 
10 years), which is within the average remaining service period of employees at the time of recognition.
Unapplied Accounting Standards ・
•  Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits (Accounting Standards Board of Japan [ASBJ] Statement No. 26, May 17, 

2012)・
• Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits (ASBJ Guidance No. 25, May 17, 2012) 
(1) Outline 
 Actuarial gains and losses and prior service costs are required to be recognized in net assets at net of tax effects. 

Funded status is fully recognized as a liability or asset on the balance sheet. With respect to the amortization method of 
the expected benefit, the benefit formula basis is newly allowed as an option, in addition to the straight-line basis. In 
addition, the method for determining the discount rate has been amended. 

(2) Planned date of application 
 The amortization method of the expected benefit will be adopted from the beginning of the fiscal year ending December 

31, 2015. The standard and guidance will not be applied retrospectively to financial statements in the prior years. 
(3) Effects of the application of the above accounting standards on consolidated financial statements 
 The effects on the consolidated financial statements of the Company in adopting these accounting standards are under 

evaluation.

j. Allowance for Sales Returns
An allowance for sales returns is provided for losses incurred on the return of snow tires sold during the fiscal year but 
returned subsequent to the balance sheet date. The allowance is based on an estimate using the average rate of such 
returns in prior years.

k. Income Taxes
Income taxes in Japan comprise a corporate tax, an enterprise tax and prefectural and municipal inhabitants’ taxes. 
  Provision is made for deferred income taxes arising from temporary differences between assets or liabilities for financial 
and tax reporting purposes.

l. Revenue Recognition
Sales of products are recognized upon product shipments to customers.

m. Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are charged to income as incurred.

n. Earnings per Share
Basic net income per share is computed by dividing net income available to common shareholders by the average number of 
common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted net income per share is not disclosed because there were no 
dilutive securities in the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Change in Accounting Policies
Application of accounting standards for retirement benefits
The Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits (ASBJ Statement No. 26 released on May 17, 2012; hereinafter “the 
Standard”) and the Guidance on Accounting Standard for Retirement Benefits (ASBJ Guidance No. 25 released on May 17, 
2012; hereinafter “the Guidance”) have been applied effective from the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, 
except for items stated in Paragraph 35 of the Standard and Paragraph 67 of the Guidance. As a result of this application, 
the Company reports the amount of retirement benefit obligations after deducting plan assets as a net defined benefit 
liability, with unrecognized actuarial gain or loss and unrecognized prior service cost being included in the net defined benefit 
liability.

  The Company follows the transitional treatment provided in Paragraph 37 of the Standard for the application of the 
Standard and the Guidance, and the effect of this application is recognized by adjusting remeasurements of defined benefit 
plans presented in accumulated other comprehensive income as of the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014. In 
addition, net defined benefit liability of consolidated overseas subsidiaries, which was disclosed in other long-term liabilities 
in the consolidated balance sheet in previous years (¥8,884 million [$73,696 thousand] as of December 31, 2013, and 
¥9,178 million [$76,138 thousand] as of December 31, 2014) was included in net defined benefit liability from the end of the 
fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, and adjustments related to pension obligations of consolidated overseas subsidiaries 
in net assets (¥−5,394 million [$44,747 thousand] as of December 31, 2013, and ¥−6,354 million [$52,705 thousand] as of 
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3. Inventories
Inventories at December 31, 2014 and 2013, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Finished products ¥  74,080 ¥ 63,009 $ 614,519
Work in process 7,755 7,273 64,329
Raw materials and supplies 26,520 20,743 219,991

¥ 108,355 ¥ 91,025 $ 898,839

 
4. Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt at December 31, 2014 and 2013, consisted of the following:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

1.68% straight bonds due 2014 ¥       — ¥ 10,000 $        —
0.509% straight bonds due 2020 10,000 10,000 82,953
0.355% straight bonds due 2021 10,000 — 82,953
Loans, principally from banks and insurance companies 54,969 63,629 455,984

74,969 83,629 621,890
Less current maturities 23,014 31,825 190,909

¥ 51,955 ¥ 51,804 $ 430,982

Assets pledged to secure bank loans and long-term debt at December 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Property, plant and equipment ¥ 698 ¥ 712 $ 5,793

5. Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expenses for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, were allocated as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Selling, general and administrative expenses ¥  3,044 ¥  2,840 $  25,254
Manufacturing costs 24,394 21,142 202,359
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6. Notes Maturing on December 31, 2014 and 2013
Because December 31, 2014 and 2013, which was the account closing date, was a nonbusiness day for financial 
institutions, notes receivable and payable maturing on that date were settled on the following business day. However, the 
Company recognized notes receivable and payable that matured on the date as being settled. Information on notes 
receivable and payable treated as settled was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Notes receivable ¥ 872 ¥ 899 $ 7,233
Notes payable 849 868 7,043
Other current liabilities (notes payable—facilities) 232 188 1,927

7. Contingent Liabilities
Contingent liabilities at December 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Guarantees ¥ 1,689 ¥ 3,059 $ 14,008

8. Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses charged to manufacturing costs and to selling, general and administrative expenses 
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, were ¥13,438 million ($111,476 thousand) and ¥12,633 million, 
respectively.

9. Business Structure Improvement Expenses
Business structure improvement expenses charged to the others segment for structure improvement included impairment 
loss, etc., of ¥545 million ($5,177 thousand) for the year ended December 31, 2013. 

10. Impairment Loss
The Company groups fixed assets for impairment testing based on organizational units by products and services for the 
Company and by company units for consolidated subsidiaries.
  The Companies recognized impairment loss and wrote down the book value to the recoverable value and accounted for 
the diminution as impairment loss for the following group of assets:

Year ended December 31, 2013

Description Classification Location Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

Business assets Buildings, Structures, Machinery, etc. Japan and Asia ¥ 1,956 $ 18,562

  The recoverable value was calculated by discounting future cash flows at a rate of 10.2%. If negative future cash flows 
are estimated, the recoverable value will be evaluated as zero.

11. Other Comprehensive Income
Reclassification adjustments and tax effects allocated to each component of other comprehensive income for the years 
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Unrealized gains on securities
 Arising during the year ¥  8,758 ¥ 28,256 $  72,652
 Amount of recycling (2,615)  — (21,691)
  Before tax-effect adjustment 6,143 28,256 50,961
  Amount of tax effect 2,159 9,988 17,911
  Unrealized gains on securities 3,984 18,268 33,051
Foreign currency translation adjustments
 Arising during the year 15,411 19,702 127,841
Adjustment related to pension obligations of consolidated overseas  
 subsidiaries
 Arising during the year (2,183) 1,065 (18,111)
 Amount of recycling 624 656 5,175 
  Before tax-effect adjustment (1,559) 1,721 (12,936)
  Amount of tax effect (600) 703 (4,978)
  Adjustment related to pension obligations of consolidated 
   overseas subsidiaries (959) 1,018 (7,958)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates accounted for 
 by the equity method
 Arising during the year 7 317 56
Total other comprehensive income ¥ 18,443 ¥ 39,305 $ 152,990

12. Retained Earnings and Dividends
The amount of retained earnings available for dividends under the Corporate Law of Japan is based on the amount stated in 
the unconsolidated financial statements of the Company. Dividends are approved by the shareholders at a meeting held 
subsequent to the fiscal year for which the dividends are applicable.

13. Supplementary Cash Flow Information
A reconciliation of cash and deposits presented in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and 
of cash and cash equivalents reported in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2014 
and 2013, was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Cash and deposits  ¥ 45,967  ¥ 37,179 $ 381,313
Time deposits with maturities of more than three months (1,514) (1,316) (12,557)
Cash and cash equivalents  ¥ 44,454  ¥ 35,863 $ 368,756

14. Leases
Leased assets under finance lease agreements include molds and warehouse equipment. The depreciation of leased assets 
is computed by the straight-line method over the term of the leases.
  Future lease obligations under noncancelable operating leases subsequent to December 31, 2014 and 2013, were 
as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Within one year  ¥  1,553  ¥ 1,205 $ 12,885
After one year 10,174 2,789 84,401

 ¥ 11,728  ¥ 3,994 $ 97,286
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15. Financial Instruments
a. Policies for Financial Instruments
The Companies raise funds through bank loans and the issuance of corporate bonds, mainly in accordance with their capital 
investment plans for manufacturing and selling tires, and raise short-term working capital through commercial paper.
  Derivative transactions are carried out to reduce risks, as mentioned below, and not for speculative trading.

b. Information and Risks Related to Financial Instruments
Trade receivables, which are notes and accounts receivable, are subject to customer credit risk. Also, some trade 
receivables denominated in foreign currencies as a result of global business are subject to exchange rate fluctuation risk. 
Therefore, the Companies use forward exchange contracts for hedging purposes.
  Securities, principally corporate equities, are subject to market price fluctuation risk.
  Trade liabilities, which are notes and accounts payable, are mostly due within one year. Some trade liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies in relation to imported raw materials are subject to exchange rate fluctuation risk.
  Bank loans and corporate bonds are for the purpose of capital investment. The longest maturity is 10 years after 
December 31, 2014. Some of the bank loans and corporate bonds have floating interest rates and are subject to interest 
rate fluctuation risk.
  Derivative transactions are forward exchange contracts and currency swaps for the purpose of hedging against 
exchange rate fluctuation risk in relation to trade receivables, trade liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and interest 
rate swaps for the purpose of hedging against interest rate fluctuation risk in relation to bank loans.

c. Risk Management of Financial Instruments
(1) Credit Risk Management (Customer Credit Default) 
 Under credit management standards, the Companies manage due dates and balances of trade receivables for customers 

to assess and reduce collection risks.
   Derivative transactions are only carried out with highly rated financial institutions to reduce credit risks.
   The amounts of the largest credit risks as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, are indicated in the balance sheets as 

part of the allowance for doubtful receivables.

(2) Market Risk Management (Fluctuation Risk of Foreign Currency Exchange Rates and Interest Rates and Others)
 The Company and some of its consolidated subsidiaries use forward exchange contracts and currency swaps to hedge 

against exchange rate fluctuation risk in connection with trade receivables and trade liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies.

   They assess the amount of risk monthly by currency. Some consolidated subsidiaries also use interest swaps to 
hedge against interest rate fluctuation risk in connection with bank loans.

   The Companies regularly assess the fair market value of their holdings of securities issued by entities with which 
they have business relationships. They also assess the financial condition of the issuers of those securities and review 
the holdings in light of the status of their business relationships with the issuers.

   Derivative transactions are carried out under internal regulations that specify trading authority and limits, and details 
of transactions are reported to the responsible executive officers. Consolidated subsidiaries also manage their derivative 
transactions in accordance with the regulations.

(3) Liquidity Risk in Fund-Raising Management (Risk of Being Unable to Make Payment at Due Date) 
 Based on reports from each department, the corporate finance and accounting department prepares a cash flow plan 

and revises it as appropriate to reduce liquidity risk.

d. Supplementary Information About the Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair value of financial instruments is the market price or, for instruments that do not have a market price, a value 
calculated by appropriate means. The calculation of fair values incorporates variables, and the values are therefore subject 
to change, depending on diverse factors. The contract amounts for derivative transactions cited in “17. Derivative 
Instruments” do not indicate the market risk related to derivative transactions.

e. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
The book value and fair value of financial instruments and the differences between them as of December 31, 2014 and 
2013, were as follows.
  However, financial instruments whose fair value is extremely difficult to ascertain are not included in the table below 
(see Note 2 to the table).

Millions of Yen

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

Book Value Fair Value Difference Book Value Fair Value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits ¥  45,967 ¥  45,967 ¥    — ¥  37,179 ¥  37,179 ¥    — 
(2) Trade receivables: Notes and accounts 171,026 171,026 — 167,831 167,831 — 
(3) Investment securities 98,635 98,635 — 92,721 92,721 — 
(4) Long-term loans receivable — — —  2,460  2,460 — 
  Total assets 315,628 315,628 — 300,191 300,191 — 
(1) Trade notes and accounts payable 80,641 80,641 — 76,718 76,718 — 
(2) Electronically recorded obligations—
   operating 8,450 8,450 — 6,871 6,871 — 
(3) Short-term loans payable 87,368 87,368 — 79,623 79,623 — 
(4) Accrued expenses 38,613 38,613 — 33,916 33,916 — 
(5) Commercial paper 22,000 22,000 —  12,000  12,000 — 
(6) Deposits received 639 648 9  —  — — 
(7) Bonds 20,000 19,407 (593) 20,000 19,570  (430)
(8) Long-term loans payable 54,969 55,341 372 63,629 64,151 522
(9) Long-term deposits received — — — 639 643 4
  Total liabilities 312,679 312,468 (211) 293,396 293,492 96
Derivative transactions* (462) (462) — (709) (709) —

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

Book Value Fair Value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits $   381,313 $   381,313 $       —
(2) Trade receivables: Notes and accounts 1,418,715 1,418,715 — 
(3) Investment securities 818,205 818,205 — 
(4) Long-term loans receivable — — — 
  Total assets 2,618,233 2,618,233 — 
(1) Trade notes and accounts payable 668,942 668,942 — 
(2) Electronically recorded obligations—operating 70,096 70,096 — 
(3) Short-term loans payable 724,742 724,742 — 
(4) Accrued expenses 320,304 320,304 — 
(5) Commercial paper 182,497 182,497 — 
(6) Deposits received 5,299 5,378 79
(7) Bonds 165,906 160,989 (4,917)
(8) Long-term loans payable 455,984 459,069 3,085
(9) Long-term deposits received — — — 
  Total liabilities 2,593,770 2,592,017 (1,754)
Derivative transactions* (3,833) (3,833) — 

*The net amount of the assets and liabilities arising from derivatives is shown. If the net amount is a liability, it is presented in parentheses.

Note 1. Method of determining the fair value of financial instruments and securities and derivative transactions

Assets
(1) Cash and deposits and (2) trade receivables: Notes and accounts
 The fair value of these assets is approximately equivalent to their book values because of short-term settlement, so the 

book values are indicated.

(3)  Investment securities
 The fair value of securities is based on the market price on stock exchanges. See “16. Securities” regarding the 

differences between the amounts booked on the consolidated balance sheets and the acquisition costs.
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Liabilities
(1) Trade notes and accounts payable, (2) electronically recorded obligations—operating, (3) short-term loans payable,  

(4) accrued expenses, and (5) commercial paper
 The fair value of these liabilities is approximately equivalent to their book values because of short-term settlement, so the 

book values are indicated.

(6) Deposits received
 The fair value of deposits received is calculated based on the present value of the sum of principal and interest, which 

are handled together with the currency swaps, discounted by an interest rate determined taking into account the 
remaining period of each deposit and credit risk, because such deposits received are subject to the allocation method for 
currency swaps.

(7) Bonds
 The fair value of bonds is calculated based on the present value of the sum of principal and interest discounted by an 

interest rate determined taking into account the remaining period of each bond and credit risk.

(8) Long-term loans payable
 The fair value of long-term loans payable is calculated based on the present value of the sum of principal and interest 

discounted by an interest rate determined taking into account the remaining period of each loan and credit risk.

Derivative transactions
See “17. Derivative Instruments.”

Note 2. Financial instruments whose fair value is extremely difficult to ascertain were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Book Value Book Value Book Value

Unlisted stock and others ¥ 5,516 ¥ 6,916 $ 45,753

Note:  
These financial instruments are not included in “(3) Investment securities.” It is extremely difficult to ascertain the fair values 
because they do not have market prices.

Note 3.  The amount of monetary claims and securities with maturities to be redeemed after the consolidated closing 
date was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Within One Year Within One Year Within One Year

Deposits ¥  45,675 ¥  36,693 $   378,887
Trade receivables: Notes and accounts 171,026 167,831 1,418,715
  Total ¥ 216,701 ¥ 204,524 $ 1,797,602

Note 4.  The amount of bonds, long-term loans payable and other liabilities with interest to be repaid after the 
consolidated closing date was as follows:

Millions of Yen

2014  
(12.31.14)

Within One  
Year

Over One  
Year, Within  
Two Years

Over Two  
Years, Within 
Three Years

Over Three 
Years, Within 
Four Years

Over Four 
Years, Within 

Five Years
Over Five  

Years

Bonds ¥       — ¥      — ¥     — ¥     — ¥     — ¥ 20,000
Long-term loans payable 23,014 17,987 4,912 3,249 2,474 3,333
Other liabilities with interest 110,005  —  —  —  —  — 
  Total ¥ 133,019 ¥ 17,987 ¥ 4,912 ¥ 3,249 ¥ 2,474 ¥ 23,333

Millions of Yen

2013  
(12.31.13)

Within One  
Year

Over One  
Year, Within  
Two Years

Over Two  
Years, Within 
Three Years

Over Three 
Years, Within 
Four Years

Over Four 
Years, Within 

Five Years
Over Five  

Years

Bonds ¥  10,000 ¥      — ¥      — ¥     — ¥     — ¥ 10,000
Long-term loans payable 21,825 23,006 12,753 4,215 1,405 425
Other liabilities with interest 91,623  639  —  —  —  —
  Total ¥ 123,448 ¥ 23,645 ¥ 12,753 ¥ 4,215 ¥ 1,405 ¥ 10,425

Thousands of U.S. Dollars 

2014  
(12.31.14)

Within One  
Year

Over One  
Year, Within  
Two Years

Over Two  
Years, Within 
Three Years

Over Three 
Years, Within 
Four Years

Over Four 
Years, Within 

Five Years
Over Five  

Years

Bonds $         — $       — $      — $      — $      — $ 165,906
Long-term loans payable 190,909 149,206 40,748 26,951 20,522 27,648
Other liabilities with interest 912,529  —  —  —  —  —
  Total $ 1,103,438 $ 149,206 $ 40,748 $ 26,951 $ 20,522 $ 193,554

16. Securities
Cost, carrying amount and unrealized gains and losses pertaining to available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2014 and 
2013, were as follows: 

Millions of Yen

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

Cost
Carrying 
Amount

Unrealized 
Gains

Unrealized 
Losses Cost

Carrying 
Amount

Unrealized 
Gains

Unrealized 
Losses

Securities classified as 
 available for sale: Stock ¥ 33,000 ¥ 98,635 ¥ 65,769 ¥ (135) ¥ 33,172 ¥ 92,722 ¥ 59,745 ¥ (195)

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

Cost
Carrying 
Amount

Unrealized 
Gains

Unrealized 
Losses

Securities classified as
 available for sale: Stock $ 273,747 $ 818,205 $ 545,574 $ (1,116)

Sales of securities classified as available-for-sale securities and the aggregate gains or losses for the years ended 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, are immaterial.

Note: 
Unlisted stocks, whose book value as of December 31, 2014, on the consolidated balance sheet is ¥1,262 million ($10,469 
thousand), are not included in the above table. It is extremely difficult to ascertain fair value for lack of market price.
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Liabilities
(1) Trade notes and accounts payable, (2) electronically recorded obligations—operating, (3) short-term loans payable,  

(4) accrued expenses, and (5) commercial paper
 The fair value of these liabilities is approximately equivalent to their book values because of short-term settlement, so the 

book values are indicated.

(6) Deposits received
 The fair value of deposits received is calculated based on the present value of the sum of principal and interest, which 

are handled together with the currency swaps, discounted by an interest rate determined taking into account the 
remaining period of each deposit and credit risk, because such deposits received are subject to the allocation method for 
currency swaps.

(7) Bonds
 The fair value of bonds is calculated based on the present value of the sum of principal and interest discounted by an 

interest rate determined taking into account the remaining period of each bond and credit risk.

(8) Long-term loans payable
 The fair value of long-term loans payable is calculated based on the present value of the sum of principal and interest 

discounted by an interest rate determined taking into account the remaining period of each loan and credit risk.

Derivative transactions
See “17. Derivative Instruments.”

Note 2. Financial instruments whose fair value is extremely difficult to ascertain were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Book Value Book Value Book Value

Unlisted stock and others ¥ 5,516 ¥ 6,916 $ 45,753

Note:  
These financial instruments are not included in “(3) Investment securities.” It is extremely difficult to ascertain the fair values 
because they do not have market prices.

Note 3.  The amount of monetary claims and securities with maturities to be redeemed after the consolidated closing 
date was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Within One Year Within One Year Within One Year

Deposits ¥  45,675 ¥  36,693 $   378,887
Trade receivables: Notes and accounts 171,026 167,831 1,418,715
  Total ¥ 216,701 ¥ 204,524 $ 1,797,602

Note 4.  The amount of bonds, long-term loans payable and other liabilities with interest to be repaid after the 
consolidated closing date was as follows:

Millions of Yen

2014  
(12.31.14)

Within One  
Year

Over One  
Year, Within  
Two Years

Over Two  
Years, Within 
Three Years

Over Three 
Years, Within 
Four Years

Over Four 
Years, Within 

Five Years
Over Five  

Years

Bonds ¥       — ¥      — ¥     — ¥     — ¥     — ¥ 20,000
Long-term loans payable 23,014 17,987 4,912 3,249 2,474 3,333
Other liabilities with interest 110,005  —  —  —  —  — 
  Total ¥ 133,019 ¥ 17,987 ¥ 4,912 ¥ 3,249 ¥ 2,474 ¥ 23,333

Millions of Yen

2013  
(12.31.13)

Within One  
Year

Over One  
Year, Within  
Two Years

Over Two  
Years, Within 
Three Years

Over Three 
Years, Within 
Four Years

Over Four 
Years, Within 

Five Years
Over Five  

Years

Bonds ¥  10,000 ¥      — ¥      — ¥     — ¥     — ¥ 10,000
Long-term loans payable 21,825 23,006 12,753 4,215 1,405 425
Other liabilities with interest 91,623  639  —  —  —  —
  Total ¥ 123,448 ¥ 23,645 ¥ 12,753 ¥ 4,215 ¥ 1,405 ¥ 10,425

Thousands of U.S. Dollars 

2014  
(12.31.14)

Within One  
Year

Over One  
Year, Within  
Two Years

Over Two  
Years, Within 
Three Years

Over Three 
Years, Within 
Four Years

Over Four 
Years, Within 

Five Years
Over Five  

Years

Bonds $         — $       — $      — $      — $      — $ 165,906
Long-term loans payable 190,909 149,206 40,748 26,951 20,522 27,648
Other liabilities with interest 912,529  —  —  —  —  —
  Total $ 1,103,438 $ 149,206 $ 40,748 $ 26,951 $ 20,522 $ 193,554

16. Securities
Cost, carrying amount and unrealized gains and losses pertaining to available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2014 and 
2013, were as follows: 

Millions of Yen

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

Cost
Carrying 
Amount

Unrealized 
Gains

Unrealized 
Losses Cost

Carrying 
Amount

Unrealized 
Gains

Unrealized 
Losses

Securities classified as 
 available for sale: Stock ¥ 33,000 ¥ 98,635 ¥ 65,769 ¥ (135) ¥ 33,172 ¥ 92,722 ¥ 59,745 ¥ (195)

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

Cost
Carrying 
Amount

Unrealized 
Gains

Unrealized 
Losses

Securities classified as
 available for sale: Stock $ 273,747 $ 818,205 $ 545,574 $ (1,116)

Sales of securities classified as available-for-sale securities and the aggregate gains or losses for the years ended 
December 31, 2014 and 2013, are immaterial.

Note: 
Unlisted stocks, whose book value as of December 31, 2014, on the consolidated balance sheet is ¥1,262 million ($10,469 
thousand), are not included in the above table. It is extremely difficult to ascertain fair value for lack of market price.
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17. Derivative Instruments
1.  Fair value information of derivative instruments, for which deferral hedge accounting has not been applied, at December 

31, 2014 and 2013, was as follows:
(1) Currency derivatives

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Contract 
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses)
Contract 
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses)
Contract 
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses)

Forward exchange 
 contracts:
 RUB ¥ 1,178 ¥  306 ¥  306 ¥  1,590 ¥ (131) ¥ (131) $  9,772 $  2,535 $  2,535
 EUR 1,862 (82) (82) 2,570 (154) (154) 15,445 (677) (677)
 USD 2,415 (43) (43) 5,378 (271) (271) 20,037 (359) (359)
 Others 1,738 (56) (56) 1,737 (76) (76) 14,419 (462) (462)
Currency Interest rate 
 swap contracts;
 JPY receipt
 INR payment 2,731 (587) (587)  2,460 (77) (77) 22,657 (4,869) (4,869)

¥ 9,925 ¥ (462) ¥ (462) ¥ 13,735 ¥ (709) ¥ (709) $ 82,329 $ (3,833) $ (3,833)

(2) Interest rate derivatives

Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Contract 
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses)
Contract 
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses)
Contract 
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses)

Interest rate swap 
 contracts ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 5 ¥ — ¥ (0) $ — $ — $ —

2.  Fair value information of derivative instruments, for which deferral hedge accounting has been applied, at December 31, 
2014 and 2013, was as follows:

(1) Currency derivatives

Millions of Yen

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Forward exchange contracts with allocation method:
 Deposits received ¥ 639 ¥ — * ¥   — ¥   — ¥ —
Long-term deposits received   —   —   — 639 639 **

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Forward exchange contracts with allocation method:
 Deposits received $ 5,299 $ — *
Long-term deposits received  —  —  —

 * Amounts settled by the allocation method for currency swaps are handled together with those of the deposits received, which are regarded as the hedged 

items. See “15. Financial Instruments” for their fair value.

** Amounts settled by the allocation method for currency swaps are handled together with those of the long-term deposits received, which are regarded as the 

hedged items. See “15. Financial Instruments” for their fair value.

(2) Interest rate derivatives

Millions of Yen

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Interest rate swap contracts with special treatment:
 Long-term loan receivable ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 2,460 ¥ 2,460 *

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Interest rate swap contracts with special treatment:

 Long-term loan receivable $ — $ — $ —

* Amounts settled by the special treatment for interest rate swaps are handled together with those of the long-term loan receivable, which is regarded as the 

hedged item. See “15. Financial Instruments” for the fair value.

18. Pension and Severance Plans
The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries have defined contribution pension plans and lump-sum 
severance plans. Other domestic consolidated subsidiaries have lump-sum severance plans as defined benefit plans, and 
certain overseas consolidated subsidiaries have defined benefit plans. The Company also has a retirement benefit trust.
  Lump-sum severance plans of certain consolidated subsidiaries are accounted by the simplified method. Information on 
the severance plans of the consolidated subsidiaries calculated using the simplified method is also included in the following 
notes due to its immateriality.

Year ended December 31, 2014
1. Defined benefit plans
(1) The changes in defined benefit obligation for the year ended December 31, 2014, were as follows: 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2014 
(12.31.14)

2014 
(12.31.14)

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 32,366 $ 268,482
 Current service cost 1,919 15,918
 Interest cost 478 3,967
 Actuarial losses (180) (1,494)
 Benefits paid (2,779) (23,050)
 Others 29,047 240,954
Balance at end of year ¥ 60,851 $ 504,777

The above “Others” includes a ¥29,068 million ($241,131 thousand) year-end balance of consolidated overseas 
subsidiaries, which was included in other long-term liabilities as of December 31, 2013.

(2) The changes in plan assets for the year ended December 31, 2014, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2014 
(12.31.14)

2014 
(12.31.14)

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 14,322 $ 118,809
 Actuarial losses 1,959 16,251
 Contributions from employer 4 31
 Benefits paid (7) (60)
 Others 19,889 164,984
Balance at end of year ¥ 36,167 $ 300,014

The above “Others” includes a ¥19,890 million ($164,994 thousand) year-end balance of consolidated overseas 
subsidiaries, which was included in other long-term liabilities as of December 31, 2013.
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17. Derivative Instruments
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Amount Fair Value
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Gains 
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Gains 
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Forward exchange 
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 EUR 1,862 (82) (82) 2,570 (154) (154) 15,445 (677) (677)
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Millions of Yen Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Contract 
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses)
Contract 
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses)
Contract 
Amount Fair Value

Unrealized 
Gains 

(Losses)

Interest rate swap 
 contracts ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 5 ¥ — ¥ (0) $ — $ — $ —

2.  Fair value information of derivative instruments, for which deferral hedge accounting has been applied, at December 31, 
2014 and 2013, was as follows:

(1) Currency derivatives

Millions of Yen

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Forward exchange contracts with allocation method:
 Deposits received ¥ 639 ¥ — * ¥   — ¥   — ¥ —
Long-term deposits received   —   —   — 639 639 **

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Forward exchange contracts with allocation method:
 Deposits received $ 5,299 $ — *
Long-term deposits received  —  —  —

 * Amounts settled by the allocation method for currency swaps are handled together with those of the deposits received, which are regarded as the hedged 

items. See “15. Financial Instruments” for their fair value.

** Amounts settled by the allocation method for currency swaps are handled together with those of the long-term deposits received, which are regarded as the 

hedged items. See “15. Financial Instruments” for their fair value.

(2) Interest rate derivatives

Millions of Yen

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Interest rate swap contracts with special treatment:
 Long-term loan receivable ¥ — ¥ — ¥ — ¥ 2,460 ¥ 2,460 *

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

Contract 
Amount

Over  
One Year Fair Value

Interest rate swap contracts with special treatment:

 Long-term loan receivable $ — $ — $ —

* Amounts settled by the special treatment for interest rate swaps are handled together with those of the long-term loan receivable, which is regarded as the 

hedged item. See “15. Financial Instruments” for the fair value.

18. Pension and Severance Plans
The Company and certain domestic consolidated subsidiaries have defined contribution pension plans and lump-sum 
severance plans. Other domestic consolidated subsidiaries have lump-sum severance plans as defined benefit plans, and 
certain overseas consolidated subsidiaries have defined benefit plans. The Company also has a retirement benefit trust.
  Lump-sum severance plans of certain consolidated subsidiaries are accounted by the simplified method. Information on 
the severance plans of the consolidated subsidiaries calculated using the simplified method is also included in the following 
notes due to its immateriality.

Year ended December 31, 2014
1. Defined benefit plans
(1) The changes in defined benefit obligation for the year ended December 31, 2014, were as follows: 

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2014 
(12.31.14)

2014 
(12.31.14)

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 32,366 $ 268,482
 Current service cost 1,919 15,918
 Interest cost 478 3,967
 Actuarial losses (180) (1,494)
 Benefits paid (2,779) (23,050)
 Others 29,047 240,954
Balance at end of year ¥ 60,851 $ 504,777

The above “Others” includes a ¥29,068 million ($241,131 thousand) year-end balance of consolidated overseas 
subsidiaries, which was included in other long-term liabilities as of December 31, 2013.

(2) The changes in plan assets for the year ended December 31, 2014, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2014 
(12.31.14)

2014 
(12.31.14)

Balance at beginning of year ¥ 14,322 $ 118,809
 Actuarial losses 1,959 16,251
 Contributions from employer 4 31
 Benefits paid (7) (60)
 Others 19,889 164,984
Balance at end of year ¥ 36,167 $ 300,014

The above “Others” includes a ¥19,890 million ($164,994 thousand) year-end balance of consolidated overseas 
subsidiaries, which was included in other long-term liabilities as of December 31, 2013.
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(3)  Reconciliation between the net defined benefit liability recorded in the consolidated balance sheet and the balances of 
defined benefit obligation and plan assets was as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2014 
(12.31.14)

2014 
(12.31.14)

Funded defined benefit obligation ¥  43,995 $  364,951
Plan assets (36,167) (300,014)

7,828 64,937
Unfunded defined benefit obligation 16,856 139,826
Net defined benefit liability ¥  24,684 $  204,763

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2014 
(12.31.14)

2014 
(12.31.14)

Liability for retirement benefits ¥ 24,684 $ 204,763
Net defined benefit liability ¥ 24,684 $ 204,763

(4) The components of net periodic benefit costs for the year ended December 31, 2014, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2014 
(12.31.14)

2014 
(12.31.14)

Service cost ¥ 1,919 $ 15,918
Interest cost 478 3,967
Recognized actuarial losses (368) (3,055)
Amortization of prior service cost 106 876
Others 1 9
Net periodic benefit costs ¥ 2,136 $ 17,715

(5) Remeasurements of defined benefit plans as of December 31, 2014, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2014 
(12.31.14)

2014 
(12.31.14)

Unrecognized prior service cost (amount before income tax effect) ¥   (458) $  (3,803)
Unrecognized actuarial losses (amount before income tax effect) (5,862) (48,629)
  Total ¥ (6,321) $ (52,432)

(6) Plan assets are as follows:
a. Components of plan assets

2014 
(12.31.14)

Debt investments 39%
Equity investments 46
Cash and cash equivalents 13
Others 2
  Total 100%

Of the above total, 45% of plan assets are held in the retirement benefit trusts.

b. Method of determining the expected rate of return on plan assets
The expected rate of return on plan assets is determined considering the allocation of pension assets expected currently 
and in the future and the long-term rates of return expected currently and in the future from the various components of the 
plan assets.

(7) Assumptions used as of December 31, 2014, were set forth as follows:

2014 
(12.31.14)

Discount rate Mainly 1.6%
Expected rate of return on plan assets Mainly 0.0%

2. Defined contribution plan
The amount of the contribution required for the defined contribution plan paid by the Company and its subsidiaries was ¥619 
million ($5,139 thousand) for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Year ended December 31, 2013
The projected benefit obligations, plan assets and composition of amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at 
December 31, 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen

2013 
(12.31.13)

Projected benefit obligations ¥ (32,366)
Fair value of plan assets 14,323
Funded status (18,043)
Unrecognized actuarial gain and loss (796)
Unrecognized prior service cost 285
Net amount recognized ¥ (18,554)

The components of net pension and severance costs for the year ended December 31, 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen

2013 
(01.01.13– 
12.31.13)

Service cost ¥ 1,929
Interest cost 479
Expected return on plan assets —
Recognized actuarial losses (230)
Recognized prior service cost 100
Net periodic benefit cost 2,278
Gain on change of pension and severance plan —
Contribution of defined contribution benefit plan 619 

¥ 2,897

Assumptions used as of December 31, 2013, were as follows:

2013 
(12.31.13)

Discount rate Mainly 1.6%
Expected return rate on plan assets 0.00%
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Recognized prior service cost 100
Net periodic benefit cost 2,278
Gain on change of pension and severance plan —
Contribution of defined contribution benefit plan 619 

¥ 2,897

Assumptions used as of December 31, 2013, were as follows:

2013 
(12.31.13)

Discount rate Mainly 1.6%
Expected return rate on plan assets 0.00%
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19. Deferred Income Taxes
Significant components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2014 
(12.31.14)

2013 
(12.31.13)

2014 
(12.31.14)

Deferred tax assets:
 Liabilities for pension and severance payments ¥        — ¥  10,861 $         —
 Net defined benefit liability 12,985 — 107,711
 Unrealized profits 5,573 5,034 46,232
 Accrued expenses 1,907 1,889 15,818
 Accrued enterprise tax 720 856 5,972
 Loss on valuation of inventories 1,066 1,103 8,843
 Other 5,888 8,781 48,840
  Gross deferred tax assets 28,138 28,524 233,418
 Less valuation allowance (683) (545) (5,668)
  Total deferred tax assets 27,455 27,979 227,749
Deferred tax liabilities:
 Unrealized gains on securities (23,192) (21,033) (192,387)
 Liabilities for pension and severance payments (3,019) (3,019) (25,043)
 Gain on receipt of stock set by pension plan (1,842) (1,842) (15,278)
 Property, plant and equipment (1,467) (1,229) (12,167)
 Non-current assets (3,191) (1,547) (26,467)
 Other (132) (438) (1,092)
  Total deferred tax liabilities  (32,842)  (29,109) (272,433)
  Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) ¥  (5,387) ¥  (1,130) $  (44,684)

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2014 
and 2013, was as follows:

2014 
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013 
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

Statutory income tax rates 37.6 % 37.6 %
Permanently nondeductible expenses 0.6 0.7 
Permanently nontaxable income (1.0) (0.6)
Tax deduction for research and development (1.8) (1.9)
Valuation allowance 0.2 (0.4)
Reversal of tax effect due to change in corporate income tax rate 0.5 —
Other (0.9) 2.0 
Effective income tax rates 35.2 % 37.4 %

20. Segment Information
a. Outline of Reportable Segments
The Company’s reportable segments are the organizational units for which the Company is able to obtain individual financial 
information in order for the Board of Directors to regularly review performance to determine the distribution of management 
resources and evaluate business results.
  The Company classifies organizational units by products and services. Each organizational unit plans domestic or 
overseas general strategies for its products and services and operates its business.
  Therefore, the Company is organized by business segments, and its reportable segments are “Tires” and “Industrial 
Products.”

b.  Methods of Calculating the Amount of Sales, Income (Loss), Assets and Other Items by Reportable 
Segments

Accounting methods for reportable segments are mostly the same as “2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”
  Profits from reportable segments are operating income, and intersegment income and transfers are based on prevailing 
market prices.

c. Information on Sales, Income (Loss), Assets and Other Items by Reportable Segments
Information on sales, income (loss), assets and other items by reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2014 
and 2013, was as follows:

Millions of Yen

Tires
Industrial 
Products 

Reportable 
Segment Total Others Total Adjustments

Consolidated 
Amount

2014  
(01.01.14–12.31.14)

Sales to third parties  ¥ 497,573 ¥ 101,451 ¥ 599,024 ¥ 26,222 ¥ 625,246 ¥      — ¥ 625,246
Intergroup sales and transfers 1,997 184 2,181 3,561 5,743 (5,743)  —
Total sales 499,570 101,634 601,205 29,784 630,988 (5,743) 625,246
Segment income ¥  48,578 ¥   7,579 ¥  56,157 ¥  2,893 ¥  59,050 ¥     17 ¥  59,067
Segment assets ¥ 575,330 ¥  78,440 ¥ 653,769 ¥ 62,242 ¥ 716,011 ¥ 18,500 ¥ 734,512
Other items
 Depreciation and amortization ¥  24,130 ¥   2,328 ¥  26,458 ¥    499 ¥  26,957 ¥    482 ¥  27,439
 Investment in equity method 
  affiliates ¥      67 ¥       — ¥      67 ¥      — ¥      67 ¥      — ¥      67
 Increase of tangible and 
  intangible fixed assets ¥  50,567 ¥   3,551 ¥  54,117 ¥    292 ¥  54,409 ¥    916 ¥  55,325

2013  
(01.01.13–12.31.13)

Sales to third parties ¥ 479,522 ¥ 96,883 ¥ 576,405 ¥ 25,225 ¥ 601,630 ¥      — ¥ 601,630
Intergroup sales and transfers 1,762 203 1,965 3,496 5,461 (5,461) —
Total sales 481,284 97,086 578,370 28,721 607,091 (5,461) 601,630
Segment income ¥  46,021 ¥  7,690 ¥  53,711 ¥  2,955 ¥  56,666 ¥    (19) ¥  56,647
Segment assets ¥ 523,959 ¥ 66,129 ¥ 590,088 ¥ 63,619 ¥ 653,707 ¥   (123) ¥ 653,584
Other items 
 Depreciation and amortization ¥  21,101 ¥  2,034 ¥  23,135 ¥    547 ¥  23,682 ¥    300 ¥  23,982
 Impairment loss ¥   1,410 ¥      — ¥   1,410 ¥    546 ¥   1,956 ¥      — ¥   1,956
 Investment in equity method 
  affiliates ¥   1,843 ¥      — ¥   1,843 ¥      — ¥   1,843 ¥      — ¥   1,843
 Increase of tangible and 
  intangible fixed assets ¥  29,374 ¥  3,073 ¥  32,447 ¥    585 ¥  33,032 ¥    473 ¥  33,505

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Tires
Industrial 
Products

Reportable 
Segment Total Others Total Adjustments

Consolidated 
Amount

2014  
(01.01.14–12.31.14)

Sales to third parties $ 4,127,523 $ 841,565 $ 4,969,089 $ 217,522 $ 5,186,610 $       — $ 5,186,610
Intergroup sales and 
 transfers 16,568 1,524 18,092 29,544 47,636 (47,636)  —
Total sales 4,144,091 843,089 4,987,181 247,066 5,234,246 (47,636) 5,186,610
Segment income $   402,967 $  62,870 $   465,837 $  24,000 $   489,838 $     140 $   489,977
Segment assets $ 4,772,541 $ 650,681 $ 5,423,222 $ 516,316 $ 5,939,538 $ 153,465 $ 6,093,003
Other items
 Depreciation and 
  amortization $   200,168 $  19,309 $   219,477 $   4,137 $   223,614 $   3,998 $   227,613
 Investment in equity 
  method affiliates $       560 $       — $       560 $       — $       560 $       — $       560
 Increase of tangible and 
  intangible fixed assets $   419,468 $  29,453 $   448,921 $   2,421 $   451,342 $   7,600 $   458,942

Note 1: 
The “Others” category incorporates operations not included in reportable segments, including aircraft products and sports 
products.
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19. Deferred Income Taxes
Significant components of the deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2014 and 2013, were as follows:

Millions of Yen
Thousands of 
U.S. Dollars

2014 
(12.31.14)

2013 
(12.31.13)

2014 
(12.31.14)

Deferred tax assets:
 Liabilities for pension and severance payments ¥        — ¥  10,861 $         —
 Net defined benefit liability 12,985 — 107,711
 Unrealized profits 5,573 5,034 46,232
 Accrued expenses 1,907 1,889 15,818
 Accrued enterprise tax 720 856 5,972
 Loss on valuation of inventories 1,066 1,103 8,843
 Other 5,888 8,781 48,840
  Gross deferred tax assets 28,138 28,524 233,418
 Less valuation allowance (683) (545) (5,668)
  Total deferred tax assets 27,455 27,979 227,749
Deferred tax liabilities:
 Unrealized gains on securities (23,192) (21,033) (192,387)
 Liabilities for pension and severance payments (3,019) (3,019) (25,043)
 Gain on receipt of stock set by pension plan (1,842) (1,842) (15,278)
 Property, plant and equipment (1,467) (1,229) (12,167)
 Non-current assets (3,191) (1,547) (26,467)
 Other (132) (438) (1,092)
  Total deferred tax liabilities  (32,842)  (29,109) (272,433)
  Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) ¥  (5,387) ¥  (1,130) $  (44,684)

A reconciliation of the statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2014 
and 2013, was as follows:

2014 
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013 
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

Statutory income tax rates 37.6 % 37.6 %
Permanently nondeductible expenses 0.6 0.7 
Permanently nontaxable income (1.0) (0.6)
Tax deduction for research and development (1.8) (1.9)
Valuation allowance 0.2 (0.4)
Reversal of tax effect due to change in corporate income tax rate 0.5 —
Other (0.9) 2.0 
Effective income tax rates 35.2 % 37.4 %

20. Segment Information
a. Outline of Reportable Segments
The Company’s reportable segments are the organizational units for which the Company is able to obtain individual financial 
information in order for the Board of Directors to regularly review performance to determine the distribution of management 
resources and evaluate business results.
  The Company classifies organizational units by products and services. Each organizational unit plans domestic or 
overseas general strategies for its products and services and operates its business.
  Therefore, the Company is organized by business segments, and its reportable segments are “Tires” and “Industrial 
Products.”

b.  Methods of Calculating the Amount of Sales, Income (Loss), Assets and Other Items by Reportable 
Segments

Accounting methods for reportable segments are mostly the same as “2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”
  Profits from reportable segments are operating income, and intersegment income and transfers are based on prevailing 
market prices.

c. Information on Sales, Income (Loss), Assets and Other Items by Reportable Segments
Information on sales, income (loss), assets and other items by reportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2014 
and 2013, was as follows:

Millions of Yen

Tires
Industrial 
Products 

Reportable 
Segment Total Others Total Adjustments

Consolidated 
Amount

2014  
(01.01.14–12.31.14)

Sales to third parties  ¥ 497,573 ¥ 101,451 ¥ 599,024 ¥ 26,222 ¥ 625,246 ¥      — ¥ 625,246
Intergroup sales and transfers 1,997 184 2,181 3,561 5,743 (5,743)  —
Total sales 499,570 101,634 601,205 29,784 630,988 (5,743) 625,246
Segment income ¥  48,578 ¥   7,579 ¥  56,157 ¥  2,893 ¥  59,050 ¥     17 ¥  59,067
Segment assets ¥ 575,330 ¥  78,440 ¥ 653,769 ¥ 62,242 ¥ 716,011 ¥ 18,500 ¥ 734,512
Other items
 Depreciation and amortization ¥  24,130 ¥   2,328 ¥  26,458 ¥    499 ¥  26,957 ¥    482 ¥  27,439
 Investment in equity method 
  affiliates ¥      67 ¥       — ¥      67 ¥      — ¥      67 ¥      — ¥      67
 Increase of tangible and 
  intangible fixed assets ¥  50,567 ¥   3,551 ¥  54,117 ¥    292 ¥  54,409 ¥    916 ¥  55,325

2013  
(01.01.13–12.31.13)

Sales to third parties ¥ 479,522 ¥ 96,883 ¥ 576,405 ¥ 25,225 ¥ 601,630 ¥      — ¥ 601,630
Intergroup sales and transfers 1,762 203 1,965 3,496 5,461 (5,461) —
Total sales 481,284 97,086 578,370 28,721 607,091 (5,461) 601,630
Segment income ¥  46,021 ¥  7,690 ¥  53,711 ¥  2,955 ¥  56,666 ¥    (19) ¥  56,647
Segment assets ¥ 523,959 ¥ 66,129 ¥ 590,088 ¥ 63,619 ¥ 653,707 ¥   (123) ¥ 653,584
Other items 
 Depreciation and amortization ¥  21,101 ¥  2,034 ¥  23,135 ¥    547 ¥  23,682 ¥    300 ¥  23,982
 Impairment loss ¥   1,410 ¥      — ¥   1,410 ¥    546 ¥   1,956 ¥      — ¥   1,956
 Investment in equity method 
  affiliates ¥   1,843 ¥      — ¥   1,843 ¥      — ¥   1,843 ¥      — ¥   1,843
 Increase of tangible and 
  intangible fixed assets ¥  29,374 ¥  3,073 ¥  32,447 ¥    585 ¥  33,032 ¥    473 ¥  33,505

Thousands of U.S. Dollars

Tires
Industrial 
Products

Reportable 
Segment Total Others Total Adjustments

Consolidated 
Amount

2014  
(01.01.14–12.31.14)

Sales to third parties $ 4,127,523 $ 841,565 $ 4,969,089 $ 217,522 $ 5,186,610 $       — $ 5,186,610
Intergroup sales and 
 transfers 16,568 1,524 18,092 29,544 47,636 (47,636)  —
Total sales 4,144,091 843,089 4,987,181 247,066 5,234,246 (47,636) 5,186,610
Segment income $   402,967 $  62,870 $   465,837 $  24,000 $   489,838 $     140 $   489,977
Segment assets $ 4,772,541 $ 650,681 $ 5,423,222 $ 516,316 $ 5,939,538 $ 153,465 $ 6,093,003
Other items
 Depreciation and 
  amortization $   200,168 $  19,309 $   219,477 $   4,137 $   223,614 $   3,998 $   227,613
 Investment in equity 
  method affiliates $       560 $       — $       560 $       — $       560 $       — $       560
 Increase of tangible and 
  intangible fixed assets $   419,468 $  29,453 $   448,921 $   2,421 $   451,342 $   7,600 $   458,942

Note 1: 
The “Others” category incorporates operations not included in reportable segments, including aircraft products and sports 
products.
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Note 2: 
Adjustments are as follows:
 (a) Segment income adjustments are the elimination of intersegment transactions.
 (b)  Segment asset adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2014, of ¥18,500 million ($153,465 thousand) were the 

elimination of intersegment transactions of ¥32,972 million ($273,515 thousand) and “corporate assets” of ¥51,472 
million ($426,980 thousand). “Corporate assets” primarily consist of accumulated working capital and investments in 
securities.

 
Note 3: 
Segment income was adjusted with operating income presented in the consolidated statements of income.

Related information for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
1. Product and service information
Information has been omitted, as the classification is the same as that for reportable segments.

2. Information about geographic areas
(a) Sales

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Japan ¥ 313,907 ¥ 309,315 $ 2,603,958
United States of America 140,564 132,126 1,166,025
Others 170,774 160,189 1,416,627
  Total ¥ 625,246 ¥ 601,630 $ 5,186,610

Note: 
Sales are based on the location of clients and classified by country. 

(b) Property, plant and equipment

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Japan ¥ 110,272 ¥ 107,801 $   914,739
United States of America 38,799 13,974 321,848
Philippines 33,283 26,846 276,092
China 26,837 20,403 222,620
Thailand 25,441 24,508 211,045
Others 14,804 14,039 122,801
  Total ¥ 249,435 ¥ 207,571 $ 2,069,145

Change in presentation
Property, plant and equipment located in the “United States of America” and “China,” which had been included in “Others” 
for the year ended December 31, 2013, are disclosed separately effective for the year ended December 31, 2014, because 
the amount exceeded 10% of consolidated property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2014. 
  To reflect this change in presentation, the information on property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2013, has 
been reclassified to “United States of America” in the amount ¥13,974 million and “China” in the amount of ¥20,403 million 
and “Others” in the amount of ¥14,039 million compared with “Others” of ¥48,416 million reported in the prior year’s 
financial statements.

3. External customer information
Disclosure of information on external customers is not required, as there were no sales to a single external customer 
amounting to 10% or more of the Company’s net sales.

4. Impairment losses on fixed assets by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
There is no applicable item for the year ended December 31, 2014.

  Information has been omitted, as the classification is the same as that for reportable segments for the year ended 
December 31, 2013.

5.  Amortization of goodwill and the amortization balance by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 
2013

The Company omitted this information because of its immateriality for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

6. Gains on negative goodwill by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
The Company omitted this information because of its immateriality for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

21. Related Party Transactions
Significant transactions and balances with related parties as of and for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, were 
as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2014
Capital Amounts Amounts

Type

Name of 
Related 

Company Address
Millions of 

Yen
Principal 
Business

Ratio of 
Voting Rights 

Owning 
(owned)

Business 
Relationship Transactions

Millions of 
Yen

Thousands 
of U.S. 
Dollars

Accounts 
and Closing 

Balances
Millions  
of Yen

Thousands 
of U.S. 
Dollars

Principal 
share-
holder

Zeon 
Corpora-

tion
Chiyoda-
ku, Tokyo ¥24,211

Manufac-
turing

Directly 
(10.1%)

Purchases 
of 

products

Purchases 
of raw 

materials 
Interlocking 
Directorate ¥16,094 $133,506

Trade 
accounts 
payable ¥10,207 $84,673

Year ended December 31, 2013
Capital Amounts Amounts

Type

Name of 
Related 

Company Address
Millions of 

Yen
Principal 
Business

Ratio of 
Voting Rights 

Owning 
(owned)

Business 
Relationship Transactions

Millions of 
Yen

Thousands 
of U.S. 
Dollars

Accounts 
and Closing 

Balances
Millions  
of Yen

Thousands 
of U.S. 
Dollars

Principal 
share-
holder

Zeon 
Corpora-

tion
Chiyoda-
ku, Tokyo ¥24,211

Manufac-
turing

Directly 
(10.1%)

Purchases 
of 

products

Purchases 
of raw 

materials 
Interlocking 
Directorate ¥15,959 $151,425

Trade 
accounts 
payable ¥9,451 $89,678

Terms of transactions and decision-making policy of the terms
(a) The purchase prices of raw materials were determined based on quotations from suppliers and market prices.
(b)  The amount of the transactions stated above does not include consumption taxes, while the balance at year-end includes 

consumption taxes.

22. Subsequent Events
1. Consolidation of shares
At the Company’s Board of Directors meeting on February 13, 2015, it was resolved to submit a proposal for the 
consolidation of shares (at a rate of one share for every two shares), a change in the number of shares per share unit (from 
1,000 shares to 100 shares), and a change in the total number of shares authorized for issue (from 700 million shares to 
400 million shares) to the Company’s 139th ordinary general meeting of shareholders held on March 27, 2015. The proposal 
was subsequently approved at the shareholders’ meeting.

(1) Purpose of consolidation of shares
Under the “Action Plan for Consolidating Trading Units,” Japan’s stock exchanges, including the Tokyo Stock Exchange, 
seek to standardize the stock trading units of listed domestic corporations at 100 shares. As a listed corporation, the 
Company respects the purpose of this plan and is going to change the number of its shares per share unit to 100 shares. 
The Company is also going to consolidate two shares into one share for the purpose of adjusting the trading unit at the 
appropriate level, taking stable holdings of the Company’s shares by shareholders and medium- and long-term share price 
fluctuations into consideration.

(2) Details of consolidation
a. Class of stock to be consolidated
Common stock
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Note 2: 
Adjustments are as follows:
 (a) Segment income adjustments are the elimination of intersegment transactions.
 (b)  Segment asset adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2014, of ¥18,500 million ($153,465 thousand) were the 

elimination of intersegment transactions of ¥32,972 million ($273,515 thousand) and “corporate assets” of ¥51,472 
million ($426,980 thousand). “Corporate assets” primarily consist of accumulated working capital and investments in 
securities.

 
Note 3: 
Segment income was adjusted with operating income presented in the consolidated statements of income.

Related information for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
1. Product and service information
Information has been omitted, as the classification is the same as that for reportable segments.

2. Information about geographic areas
(a) Sales

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Japan ¥ 313,907 ¥ 309,315 $ 2,603,958
United States of America 140,564 132,126 1,166,025
Others 170,774 160,189 1,416,627
  Total ¥ 625,246 ¥ 601,630 $ 5,186,610

Note: 
Sales are based on the location of clients and classified by country. 

(b) Property, plant and equipment

Millions of Yen
Thousands of  
U.S. Dollars

2014  
(12.31.14)

2013  
(12.31.13)

2014  
(12.31.14)

Japan ¥ 110,272 ¥ 107,801 $   914,739
United States of America 38,799 13,974 321,848
Philippines 33,283 26,846 276,092
China 26,837 20,403 222,620
Thailand 25,441 24,508 211,045
Others 14,804 14,039 122,801
  Total ¥ 249,435 ¥ 207,571 $ 2,069,145

Change in presentation
Property, plant and equipment located in the “United States of America” and “China,” which had been included in “Others” 
for the year ended December 31, 2013, are disclosed separately effective for the year ended December 31, 2014, because 
the amount exceeded 10% of consolidated property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2014. 
  To reflect this change in presentation, the information on property, plant and equipment at December 31, 2013, has 
been reclassified to “United States of America” in the amount ¥13,974 million and “China” in the amount of ¥20,403 million 
and “Others” in the amount of ¥14,039 million compared with “Others” of ¥48,416 million reported in the prior year’s 
financial statements.

3. External customer information
Disclosure of information on external customers is not required, as there were no sales to a single external customer 
amounting to 10% or more of the Company’s net sales.

4. Impairment losses on fixed assets by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
There is no applicable item for the year ended December 31, 2014.

  Information has been omitted, as the classification is the same as that for reportable segments for the year ended 
December 31, 2013.

5.  Amortization of goodwill and the amortization balance by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 
2013

The Company omitted this information because of its immateriality for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

6. Gains on negative goodwill by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
The Company omitted this information because of its immateriality for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.

21. Related Party Transactions
Significant transactions and balances with related parties as of and for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, were 
as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2014
Capital Amounts Amounts

Type

Name of 
Related 

Company Address
Millions of 

Yen
Principal 
Business

Ratio of 
Voting Rights 

Owning 
(owned)

Business 
Relationship Transactions

Millions of 
Yen

Thousands 
of U.S. 
Dollars

Accounts 
and Closing 

Balances
Millions  
of Yen

Thousands 
of U.S. 
Dollars

Principal 
share-
holder

Zeon 
Corpora-

tion
Chiyoda-
ku, Tokyo ¥24,211

Manufac-
turing

Directly 
(10.1%)

Purchases 
of 

products

Purchases 
of raw 

materials 
Interlocking 
Directorate ¥16,094 $133,506

Trade 
accounts 
payable ¥10,207 $84,673

Year ended December 31, 2013
Capital Amounts Amounts

Type

Name of 
Related 

Company Address
Millions of 

Yen
Principal 
Business

Ratio of 
Voting Rights 

Owning 
(owned)

Business 
Relationship Transactions

Millions of 
Yen

Thousands 
of U.S. 
Dollars

Accounts 
and Closing 

Balances
Millions  
of Yen

Thousands 
of U.S. 
Dollars

Principal 
share-
holder

Zeon 
Corpora-

tion
Chiyoda-
ku, Tokyo ¥24,211

Manufac-
turing

Directly 
(10.1%)

Purchases 
of 

products

Purchases 
of raw 

materials 
Interlocking 
Directorate ¥15,959 $151,425

Trade 
accounts 
payable ¥9,451 $89,678

Terms of transactions and decision-making policy of the terms
(a) The purchase prices of raw materials were determined based on quotations from suppliers and market prices.
(b)  The amount of the transactions stated above does not include consumption taxes, while the balance at year-end includes 

consumption taxes.

22. Subsequent Events
1. Consolidation of shares
At the Company’s Board of Directors meeting on February 13, 2015, it was resolved to submit a proposal for the 
consolidation of shares (at a rate of one share for every two shares), a change in the number of shares per share unit (from 
1,000 shares to 100 shares), and a change in the total number of shares authorized for issue (from 700 million shares to 
400 million shares) to the Company’s 139th ordinary general meeting of shareholders held on March 27, 2015. The proposal 
was subsequently approved at the shareholders’ meeting.

(1) Purpose of consolidation of shares
Under the “Action Plan for Consolidating Trading Units,” Japan’s stock exchanges, including the Tokyo Stock Exchange, 
seek to standardize the stock trading units of listed domestic corporations at 100 shares. As a listed corporation, the 
Company respects the purpose of this plan and is going to change the number of its shares per share unit to 100 shares. 
The Company is also going to consolidate two shares into one share for the purpose of adjusting the trading unit at the 
appropriate level, taking stable holdings of the Company’s shares by shareholders and medium- and long-term share price 
fluctuations into consideration.

(2) Details of consolidation
a. Class of stock to be consolidated
Common stock
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b. Consolidation plan and ratio
Consolidation will be on the basis of every two shares into one share on July 1, 2015, based on the number of shares held 
by shareholders listed in the Register of Shareholders as of the end of the day on June 30, 2015. 

c. Decrease in number of shares due to consolidation

Number of outstanding shares before consolidation (as of December 31, 2014) 342,598,162 shares
Decrease in number of shares after consolidation 171,299,081 shares
Number of outstanding shares after consolidation 171,299,081 shares

Note: 
“Decrease in number of shares after consolidation” and “Number of outstanding shares after consolidation”are theoretical 
values calculated based on the number of outstanding shares before consolidation and the consolidation ratio.

(3) Impact on net income and net assets per share
Net income and net assets per share as of and for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, assuming that the 
consolidation of shares had been carried out at the beginning of the year ended December 31, 2013, are as follows:

Yen U.S. Dollars

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Net assets per share of common stock ¥ 2,002.58 ¥ 1,675.67 $ 16.61 
Net income per share of common stock ¥   250.67 ¥   216.64 $  2.08

Note: 
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, only information on net income per share of common stock is provided. 
Diluted net income per share is not disclosed because there were no dilutive securities for the years then ended. 

2. Acquisition and cancellation of treasury stock
On February 23, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the acquisition of treasury stock pursuant to Article 
165-3 and Article 156 of the Corporate Law and the cancellation of treasury stock thereby acquired pursuant to Article 178 
of the Corporate Law.

(1) Reason for the acquisition and cancellation of treasury stock
The acquisition of treasury stock will be made to effect capital efficiency and an agile capital policy in view of the business 
environment and to further enhance returns to shareholders. The cancellation of treasury stock will be made to avoid the 
dilution of shares triggered by the disposition of treasury stock.

(2) Details of the acquisition
a. Type of shares to be acquired 
Common stock
b. Number of shares to be acquired
Up to 3,500,000 shares, representing 1.08% of issued shares (excluding treasury stock)
c. Total amount of acquisition
Up to ¥3,000 million ($24,886 thousand)
d. Period of acquisition
From February 24, 2015, to March 24, 2015
e. Method of acquisition
Open market purchase

(3) Details of the cancellation
a. Type of shares to be cancelled
Common stock
b. Number of shares to be cancelled
3,500,000 shares
c. Number of issued shares after cancellation of treasury stock
339,098,162 shares
d. Scheduled date of cancellation
March 31, 2015

RepoRt oF iNdepeNdeNt auditoRs
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b. Consolidation plan and ratio
Consolidation will be on the basis of every two shares into one share on July 1, 2015, based on the number of shares held 
by shareholders listed in the Register of Shareholders as of the end of the day on June 30, 2015. 

c. Decrease in number of shares due to consolidation

Number of outstanding shares before consolidation (as of December 31, 2014) 342,598,162 shares
Decrease in number of shares after consolidation 171,299,081 shares
Number of outstanding shares after consolidation 171,299,081 shares

Note: 
“Decrease in number of shares after consolidation” and “Number of outstanding shares after consolidation”are theoretical 
values calculated based on the number of outstanding shares before consolidation and the consolidation ratio.

(3) Impact on net income and net assets per share
Net income and net assets per share as of and for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, assuming that the 
consolidation of shares had been carried out at the beginning of the year ended December 31, 2013, are as follows:

Yen U.S. Dollars

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

2013  
(01.01.13–
12.31.13)

2014  
(01.01.14–
12.31.14)

Net assets per share of common stock ¥ 2,002.58 ¥ 1,675.67 $ 16.61 
Net income per share of common stock ¥   250.67 ¥   216.64 $  2.08

Note: 
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, only information on net income per share of common stock is provided. 
Diluted net income per share is not disclosed because there were no dilutive securities for the years then ended. 

2. Acquisition and cancellation of treasury stock
On February 23, 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the acquisition of treasury stock pursuant to Article 
165-3 and Article 156 of the Corporate Law and the cancellation of treasury stock thereby acquired pursuant to Article 178 
of the Corporate Law.

(1) Reason for the acquisition and cancellation of treasury stock
The acquisition of treasury stock will be made to effect capital efficiency and an agile capital policy in view of the business 
environment and to further enhance returns to shareholders. The cancellation of treasury stock will be made to avoid the 
dilution of shares triggered by the disposition of treasury stock.

(2) Details of the acquisition
a. Type of shares to be acquired 
Common stock
b. Number of shares to be acquired
Up to 3,500,000 shares, representing 1.08% of issued shares (excluding treasury stock)
c. Total amount of acquisition
Up to ¥3,000 million ($24,886 thousand)
d. Period of acquisition
From February 24, 2015, to March 24, 2015
e. Method of acquisition
Open market purchase

(3) Details of the cancellation
a. Type of shares to be cancelled
Common stock
b. Number of shares to be cancelled
3,500,000 shares
c. Number of issued shares after cancellation of treasury stock
339,098,162 shares
d. Scheduled date of cancellation
March 31, 2015
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